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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHRS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Alpha Professional
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present to you this annual report
containing the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022,

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$461.8 million (2021: HK$268.1 million), representing
an increase of approximately 72.2% as compared to the previous year.
The significant increase in revenue of the Group was primarily attributable
to the increase of approximately 90.6% in revenue of the trading of milk
powder and baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”) for the year ended
31 March 2022 as compared to the previous year. The loss for the year was
approximately HK$31.6 million (2021: HK$15.0 million). The basic loss per
share amounted to approximately HK10.1 cents (2021: HK4.8 cents).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

The Company has not made any arrangement under which a shareholder
of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is scheduled
to be held on Thursday, 8 September 2022 and the notice of AGM will
be published and issued to the Shareholders as required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 5 September 2022 to Thursday, 8 September 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)”) will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, unregistered holders of the Shares should ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited of level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (if the transfer
will be lodged before 15 August 2022) or 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged on or after 15
August 2022) for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 September
2022.
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OUTLOOK

The Group’s business strategy has been to (i) reinforce the existing business
foundation; (i) strengthen the Group’s competitive edge; and (i) actively
seek opportunities for business development and diversification. In respect
of business development and diversification, the Group developed its
Milk Products Business in February 2020 and commenced the property
investment in February 2021.

The Milk Products Business has been performing well since the very
beginning, bringing desirable returns to the Group’s investments. With
the signing of certain distribution agreements and a share subscription
agreement with BUBS Australia Limited and “Bellamy’s” (as the case
may be) at the beginning of 2022, the Group is well positioned to expand
the marketing campaign to stimulate market demands for the products
distributed. It is expected that revenues of the Group will keep growing in the
next one to two years. To better seize the golden opportunities for further
developing the Milk Products Business, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with Morton Securities Limited on 31 March 2022 (the “Placing”)
and completed the Placing of 34,920,000 shares of the Company on 10
May 2022 which brought net proceeds amounting to approximately HK$47.8
million. Details of the Placing are set out in the section headed “The Placing
and Use of Proceeds” under the “Directors’ Report”.

In the future, the Group will further consolidate the strong foundation of
the Milk Products Business, cultivate customer loyalty and develop new
customer base through providing high-quality products and better customer
experience, and further expand the market share of milk products in Asian
markets, especially in the People’s Republic of China, in an effort to sustain
the growth of the Milk Products Business. The Milk Products Business is
expected to become a new engine to boost the Group’s performance in the
future.

In terms of the provision of mobile handset solution (the “Mobile Business”),
the Group primarily focused on export trading through ODM of mobile
handsets. As orders from customers in this segment decreased, the
Group has scaled down the operations of the Mobile Business as much as
possible, actively reduced operating costs through cost cutting measures
and continuously reviewed the operations so as to overcome challenges.

While the Coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic still continues, it is expected
that its impact will become less serious with more people around the world
are getting vaccinated. Although the Group does not have any detailed plans
for material investments or capital assets, the Group will continue to develop
in line with its business strategy in order to enhance its performance and
maintain its long-term value, as it sees opportunities alongside the crisis.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFEHRS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to the
Company’s management team and all staff for their continuous effort and
contributions to the Group. Their excellence and commitment are of vital
importance in enhancing the Company’s sustainability. | also take this
opportunity to extend my thanks to the Shareholders for their support and
confidence in us.

Xiong Jianrui
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$461.8 million (2021: HK$268.1 million), representing
an increase of approximately 72.2% as compared to the previous year.
The significant increase in revenue of the Group was primarily attributable
to the increase of approximately 90.6% in revenue of the trading of milk
powder and baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”) for the year ended
31 March 2022 as compared to the previous year. The loss for the year was
approximately HK$31.6 million (2021: HK$15.0 million). The basic loss per
share amounted to approximately HK10.1 cents (2021: HK4.8 cents).

The Group reported a drop in its business performance for the year ended
31 March 2022 as compared to the previous year. The substantial increase
in loss was primarily attributable to the combined effect of (i) the loss of
over HK$40.0 million from the Group’s business segment of provision of
mobile handset solution (the “Mobile Business”) as a result of sales of slow-
moving inventories at a loss; and (i) a partial offset of the loss by the profit
contributed by the Milk Products Business.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the administrative expenses of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$20.4 million (2021: HK$19.5 million),
representing a slight increase of 4.6% as compared to the previous year.
This was mainly due to the increase in legal and professional fees and
administrative staff cost recognised by the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the Milk Products Business, the Mobile
Business and property investment (the “Property Investment”).

Milk Products Business

The Group continues to run its Milk Products Business focusing
on cross-border milk powder trading in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), Hong Kong and Australia. The Group became a distributor
of “Bellamy’s” in January 2022, the details of which were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 January 2022. During the year,
the Group mainly sold () milkk powder of four brands from Australia and
New Zealand, namely “A2”, “Bubs”, “Aptamil” and “Bellamy’s”; (ii) adult milk
powder of “Capela” and “CapriLac”; and (i) an infant health care product —
“Vita Bubs”.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenue of the Milk Products
Business was approximately HK$436.6 million (2021: HK$229.0 million),
of which the revenue of sales of milk powder and baby foods was
approximately HK$435.2 million (2021: HK$227.7 million), franchise fee
income was approximately HK$1.4 million (2021: HK$1.3 million), and
the corresponding gross profit was approximately HK$33.0 million (2021:
HK$22.4 million). The reportable segment profit (adjusted EBITDA) was
approximately HK$25.3 million (2021: HK$21.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREN WA

Mobile Business

The impact on the economy caused by the Coronavirus disease 2019 (the
“COVID-19”) has continued since its worldwide outbreak from the beginning
of 2020. The operation and results of the Mobile Business during the year
ended 31 March 2022 were inevitably affected due to the pandemic. In its
passive position coping with the pandemic, the Mobile Business is unable
to recapture the already dropping orders and sales from its scaled-down
operations.

The product life cycles of the products in the Mobile Business are short in
the ever-evolving technology industry. In order to avoid the Group’s inventory
from becoming obsolete, the management used its best endeavours to
increase the sales of the outdated slow-moving Mobile Business products
during the year ended 31 March 2022, aiming to minimise loss of this
segment. However, due to () the intensifying competition between mobile
ODM manufacturers; and (i) a decrease in the volume of purchases from the
customers in the Mobile Business resulting from the impact of the COVID-19
on the economy, and lock-down of countries from time to time, during the
past two years, it continued to incur a considerable loss in the sales of its
Mobile Business products during the year despite the efforts made by the
Group in this respect.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenue of the Mobile Business
was approximately HK$23.4 million (2021: HK$38.8 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 39.7% as compared to the previous year, and
the reportable segment loss (adjusted EBITDA) was approximately HK$42.5
million (2021: HK$23.0 million).

Property Investment

The Group owns a piece of land at 152 Milperra Road, Revesby, NSW
2212, New South Wales, Australia, with a total site area of approximately
2,462 square metres and has a warehouse erected thereon with a total
internal lettable area of approximately 1,906 square metres (the “Property”).
The Property was recognised by the Group as an investment property and
was measured at fair value on each reporting date. As at 31 March 2022,
the fair value of the Property was approximately AUD7.8 million (2021:
AUD7.5 million) (equivalent to approximately HK$43.5 million (31 March
2021: HK$45.2 million), representing approximately 24.3% (2021: 18.9%)
of the total assets of the Group). For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Property was leased to a lessee and generated rental income to the Group
of approximately HK$1.7 million (2021: HK$0.2 million). The reportable
segment profit (adjusted EBITDA) was approximately HK$2.9 million (2021:
segment loss of HK$2.2 million).

It is currently expected that the Group will continue to lease out the Property.
In the event that the Group requires a warehouse for its business operations
in Australia in future, the Property may serve as a warehouse for self-use.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group’s capital expenditure, daily operations and investments during
the year ended 31 March 2022 are mainly funded by cash generated from
its operations. The liquidity and financing requirements of the Group are
reviewed on a regular basis.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$130.1 million (2021: HK$189.8 million) and current liabilities of
approximately HK$61.3 million (2021: HK$87.7 million). The liquidity of
the Group as evidenced by the current ratio (current assets over current
liabilities) was 2.12 times (2021: 2.16 times).

As at 31 March 2022, the trade and other receivables of the Group were
approximately HK$104.4 million (2021: HK$66.4 million), the increase of
which was mainly attributable to increase of sales and a longer credit period
granted to new customers of the Milk Products Business during the year.
The inventories of the Group decreased significantly from approximately
HK$52.6 million as at 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$4.8 million as
at 31 March 2022. The trade and other payables of the Group decreased
from approximately HK$82.4 million as at 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$52.9 million as at 31 March 2022,

As at 31 March 2022, the Group maintained cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$20.9 million (2021: HK$70.4 million), of which 14.5%
(2021: 91.0%) were denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") or United
States dollars (“US$”) and 84.0% (2021: 8.5%) were denominated in
Australian dollars (“AUD”). The decrease of cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$49.5 million as compared to the position as at 31 March
2021 was mainly due to the use of cash in operating activities, in particular,
the Milk Products Business.

The Group had no outstanding borrowing as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEmEDH

The Group’s strategy was to maintain the gearing ratio at the lowest as
possible. The gearing ratio (calculated by net debt over total equity) of the
Group as at 31 March 2022 was as follows:

BEBE RBafEk
BB & EAEAD)
R E RIRITAE R

Total debt (sum of current liabilities and
non-current liabilities)
Less: cash and bank balances

Net debt BEFE
Total equity W ABEE

Gearing ratio

The increase in gearing ratio as at 31 March 2022 as compared to 31 March
2021 was primarily due to a decrease in cash and bank balances.

Treasury Policy and Financial Management

The Group’s treasury policy aims to ensure that (i) the funding requirements
for capital commitments, investments and operations of the Group can be
fulfilled; and (i) liquidity can be managed to ensure that fund inflows are
matched against all maturing repayment obligations.

The Group aims to minimise its exposure to financial risks. The Group’s
policy is not to engage in speculative derivative financial transactions and not
to invest its existing capital resources in financial products with significant
risks.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from transactions, working
capitals and investments denominated in foreign currencies, mainly in AUD
and US$. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not use any
financial instruments for hedging purposes and the Group did not have any
hedging instruments outstanding as at 31 March 2022.

The Group will closely monitor the exchange rate risk arising from the
Group’s existing operations and potential new investments in future, and
will implement necessary hedging arrangements to mitigate any significant
foreign exchange risk when and if appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Charge on Group Assets
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any charges on its assets
(2021: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

Material Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).

Significant Investments Held

Save as disclosed in the paragraph above headed “Business Review —
Property Investment”, the Group did not hold other significant investments as
at and for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Events After the End of the Reporting Period
Details regarding the events after the end of the reporting period are set out
in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as and except for the events after the end of the reporting period as set
out in the consolidated financial statements, there were no significant events
affecting the Group and requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent
to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 36 employees (2021: 23). Total staff
cost, including Directors’ emoluments, of approximately HK$11.8 million
(2021: HK$9.1 million) was incurred during the year ended 31 March
2022. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive remuneration.
Remuneration of employees which included salary and discretionary
performance bonus is decided with reference to the results of the Group,
the market level as well as individual performance and contributions.
Remuneration packages (including performance bonuses) are reviewed on a
regular basis by the Group.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme, details of which are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEmEDH

CORPORATE STRATEGIES

The Group is dedicated to emphasise shareholders’ values through
persistent improvement in its business performance and commitment to
its core values, which emphasises fulfilling social responsibilities, satisfying
customers’ needs, and promoting employees’ development.

The Group aims to focus on developing the Milk Products Business as its
new growth point. Meanwhile, the Group will use its endeavours to sustain
its Mobile Business.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the year, the Group continued to devote resources to the Milk
Products Business, the performance of which improved significantly under
the persistent efforts of the Group. The revenue of the Milk Products
Business during the year ended 31 March 2022 increased by approximately
90.6% as compared to the previous year, which further supported the
Group’s overall performance. Currently, the Group mainly sells milk powder
under the brands of “A2”, “Bubs”, “Aptamil” and “Bellamy’s”. Revenues from
the sales of “Bubs” and “A2” increased by over 80% and 60% respectively

as compared to the previous year.

To further develop the Milk Products Business, the Group signed an
exclusive distributorship agreement with a subsidiary of BUBS Australia
Limited (ASX: BUB) (‘BUBS Australia”) at the end of 2021, acquiring the
exclusive distributorship in Hong Kong and the PRC for a new product
launched by BUBS Australia in March 2022. In addition to the exclusive
distributorship agreement for the new product, the Group also signed
exclusive distributorship agreements with BUBS Australia for the existing
products to increase the market share in the supply chain of the products
of BUBS Australia. The Group entered into a share subscription agreement
(the “Share Subscription Agreement”) with BUBS Australia on 3 March
2022, pursuant to which the Group will have the right to subscribe for up
to an aggregate of 29,541,620 shares of BUBS Australia when certain
“Bubs” product purchase milestones have been reached by the Group, at
nil consideration. The entering into of the Share Subscription Agreement will
strengthen the business relationship between the Group and BUBS Australia.
Details of the Share Subscription Agreement and the exclusive distributorship
agreements are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 3
March 2022 and 24 March 2022, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Further, the Group entered into distribution agreements and became the
distributor of “Bellamy’s” in January 2022, for the distribution of certain
milk powder and baby foods products owned by and manufactured
for “Bellamy’s”. Details of the distribution agreements are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 January 2022. The introduction of
“Bellamy’s” will further strengthen the Group’s revenue base and facilitate
the Group’s business development in the future. During the year, the Group
also introduced a series of milk powder products for adults and pregnant
women under the brand of “A2”. In the future, the Group will continue
to strengthen the marketing efforts for brands under the Milk Products
Business to maintain the exposure of products, and will further advance
the diversification of portfolio to meet the increasing demands of different
customers.

In terms of the Mobile Business, intensifying competition, changes in the
international political situation and environment, trade disputes, the rise in
costs of raw materials, as well as the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
that have lasted for more than two years, have reduced the viability of small
and medium scale mobile handset manufacturers and processors and put
tremendous pressure on the operations and performance of the Group’s
Mobile Business. The markets of Dubai, South Africa, Bangladesh and
Vietnam that had been lost last year have not been recovered yet. During the
year, the Mobile Business only received a few small new orders. In order to
avoid the Group’s inventory from becoming obsolete, the management had
used its best endeavours to increase the sales of the outdated slow-moving
Mobile Business products during the year ended 31 March 2022, aiming to
minimise loss from the Mobile Business.

While the segmental revenue and profit from the Milk Products Business
increased during the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared to the
previous year, the profit of the Milk Products Business was insufficient to
offset the significant loss generated from the Mobile Business.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEEARS

The Company is committed to enhancing the standards of corporate
governance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) in
order to safeguard the long-term interests of shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), customers and employees of the Company. The board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company continues to
monitor and review the corporate governance practices as adopted and
strives to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders and fulfil the
commitment to maintain high standards of corporate governance which
delivers long-term success of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with all applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance, leadership
and control for the Company. The Board formulates mid and long-term
strategies, monitors operational and financial performance, reviews the
annual business plans and financial budgets, ensures good corporate
governance and makes key decisions of the Company, including but not
limited to those affecting strategic policies of the Group, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to the operations of
the Group.

Board Composition

The Board currently has seven Directors comprising four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. Members of the Board
during the year and up to the date of this annual report are set out as below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xiong Jianrui (Chairman)

Mr. Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chen Zeyu

Mr. Chen Xu (appointed on 8 December 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Li Chak Hung

Mr. Choi Kin Man

Mr. Ngai Wah Sang

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical

Information of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report on
pages 41 to 44.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

RABHNINMBAEREREWE QB (FE
MRER) 2 EERRE UREEAQT
R (TRER)) ~ARBAERREEZREF
moARBER (EF) & (EF8) HE
EERBERFAEMCEERER > WIBH
TakREAHRSZHERBTERSEL
FERLUENAERREMINZ K-

BTFiEEARTH
APNBREEBEE_S__F=B=+—
HEFERCERAESEH AR ZMABRAE
(TEZZFRry) 5535 L3R A0 (T EHHRAL) M
14T E 2 EERTR ((REEBRFAL)
MRA REBTHRAEBBTAE

EXg

EEEHE
EXZgEERARARRMEKTIES EE
REZE-BEFEHEDRARE EREE
EUBERE BREEXEHABRMER
B ERRFEXEARBERTFHER
REF BREEFTRNZEZEREENERK
BR-ARAEREENIEREREER
R B AR R R B KRR

EEGHEN

EECRAALRES ANRATESR
—RBUFRTESEN NEAFEAKRE
EAFRBPZEFTEREHIMT !

BITESE

BRRIIR S E (/B

FIERI KL (TEABE)

BREFE

isEE (M2 —F+"BN\BEZD

BUHATES :
SR
PR S
R Sk

EFCEEFBHNAFRENBEESHMERE
Z2IEERSHREEBEAER -



Corporate Governance Report

The Company currently has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, key appointments and
standards of conduct. All independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years subject to early termination in accordance with the
terms of the respective letters of appointment and retirement by rotation and
re-election and other related provisions as stipulated in the bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. Among the independent
non-executive Directors, at least one of the independent non-executive
Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.18 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, notwithstanding any other
provisions in the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Mr. Xiong Jianrui, Mr. Yi Peijian and Mr. Choi Kin Man will retire from office
as Director at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Thursday, 8 September 2022 (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Director at the AGM, and be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorisation by the
members of the Company in general meeting, as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of members of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election. Mr. Chen Xu will retire from office as Director
at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election as Director
at the AGM, and be subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the
AGM.

Relationship Between Board Members

Alpha Professional Development Limited (the controlling shareholder of the
Company until 29 September 2021) (“APDL”) was beneficially owned as
to 50% by each of Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian, who are also both
directors of APDL. Save as disclosed above, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships)
between Board members.
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TEEARS

Board and Committees Meetings

During the year, the Company held four Board meetings and the individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the Remuneration Committee
and annual general meeting are set out below:

EFEREAEES
WAEER AARCETNREERES
MEEENEEE BHEEE RAEE
ERFHERE 2 BHURRREE AR
BRI RS T

Number of meetings attended/held

R/ BTEHERY
Annual
Audit  Nomination Remuneration  general
Directors Board Committee ~ Committee Committee meeting
B=®
B3 EX¢ BHZEYT REZBE HWEEE BEAS
Executive Directors RTES
Xiong Jianrui (Chaimmer) SRR (2) 44 NARER 11 1N 1
i Peijian (Chief Executive Offcer) FIER (THAEH) 44 NIARER 1 1N 0/1
Chen Zeyu RET 44 NARER N 1N 0/
Chen Xu (appointed on 8 December 2021) RE (R -Z-—F+-A/\BEZD 11 NARER 0/0 N/ATRER 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFRTES
Li Chak Hung ER 4/4 474 11 11 1/1
Choi Kin Man ZER 4/4 4/4 1 il il
Ngai Wah Sang BEt 4/4 474 11 11 1/1
Note: PEE

Attendances of the Directors during the year were made by reference to the number of such
meetings held during their respective tenures.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The posts of the chairman (the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer (the
“Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company are held separately by Mr. Xiong
Jianrui and Mr. Yi Peijian, respectively, with a clear and distinct division of
responsibilities.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for ensuring effective
and smooth functioning and operation of the Board and the overall strategy
of the Group and establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Chairman also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed
on all issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate, accurate and
reliable information in a timely manner.

During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other executive Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the overall management, operation
and business development of the Group and implementing important policies
and development strategies as adopted by the Board in order to ensure a
successful day-to-day management of the business of the Group.

This segregation of roles ensures reinforcement of their independence,
responsibility and accountability.
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development Training

The Company has received confirmation from each of the Directors that he
had participated in continuous professional development training to develop
and refresh his knowledge and skills in accordance with code provision
C.1.4 (equivalent to previous code provision A.6.5) of the CG Code during
the year. According to the records provided by the Directors and maintained
by the Company, the training received by the Directors during the year is
summarised as follows:

EXEERRS

ERHEREEREE
AABEWERESFZEAE  BIAREE
RFEEERTHZ TR EC.1.41% (1B
FRERTAR X EA65MF) RAEERS
BFEEEERE UERKLBEHENE
e -RIEZEEMEHAERTDFERNTL
B BERAFENEZHEIELNT

Updates to
Corporate laws, rules and Finance/
Directors governance regulations management
B RA R
5% rE¥EER RBIZEH B/ BB
Executive Directors HITESE
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) sealty (/%) AC AC C
Yi Peijlian (Chief Executive Offcer) SR (T HAEZ) C AC C
Chen Zeyu REF © © ®
Chen Xu (appointed on 8 December 2021) B (RS- —F+-A/\BEZD AC AC AC
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Li Chak Hung S ABC ABC ABC
Choi Kin Man R BC © BC
Ngai Wah Sang BESE AGC C AC
Form of training: gl =
A: Tutorial/Seminar A %8BI
B: Online learning B: 5 LeE
C: Reading materials C: BEME
Board Diversity BEEEMESTE

The Company adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to each of the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Day-to-day management and operation of the Group are delegated to the
management of the Company. The Board provides clear directions to the
management as to its powers and circumstances in which the management
shall report to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in respect of legal action against Directors. In addition, each
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her
office or otherwise in relation thereto in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Management

The management, under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses,
implementation of the strategies approved by the Board and general
operations of the Company, as delegated by the Board. Such delegation is
closely monitored and regularly reviewed by the Board. The management
has to report to the Board and approval from the Board has to be obtained,
prior to any significant decisions or any commitments to be entered into on
behalf of the Company.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated authority to the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee to deal with specific matters
under defined terms of reference which are reviewed and updated regularly
to ensure that they remain appropriate and in line with the Group’s business
and changes in governance practices.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee, consisting
of two executive Directors (Mr. Xiong Jianrui and Mr. Chen Zeyu) and three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung, Mr. Choi Kin Man
and Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (chairman of the Remuneration Committee)), is
delegated with the authority from the Board to establish, review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and practices of
the Group.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine, with
delegated responsibility, or to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management,
recommend to the Board the policy and structure on the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management to ensure that no Director or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration and in reviewing and
approving compensation-related issues.
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Corporate Governance Report

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting (the
attendance records of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt
with matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review
the policy and structure on the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, recommend to the Board the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management, and the remuneration packages for the
newly appointed Director. Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

Of the senior management of the Group, seven (2021: seven) were the
Directors whose emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements. The remuneration payable to the remaining two
members (2021: two members) of senior management by band for the
year ended 31 March 2022, pursuant to code provision E.1.5 (equivalent to
previous code provision B.1.5) of the CG Code, were as follows:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee, consisting
of two executive Directors (Mr. Xiong Jianrui (chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Chen Xu) and three independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung, Mr. Choi Kin Man and Mr. Ngai Wah Sang), is
delegated with the authority from the Board to formulate and implement the
policy for nominating candidates for approval of the Board and assess the
independence and commitment of independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Chen Zeyu ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on 8
December 2021.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, formulate policy and make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment of the
Directors and succession planning for senior management of the Company
(including Directors), and assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report
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During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting (the
attendance record of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt
with matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review
the Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, and the time commitment of Directors for
performance of their responsibilities, discuss the succession planning of the
senior management of the Company, consider the retirement and re-election
of Directors, assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendation to the Board the appointment of the
newly appointed Director.

Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The nomination policy formulated by the Nomination Committee
aimed to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee has been delegated with responsibility
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The criteria to be applied in considering whether
a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the
Board. The Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and appointment
of new Directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects in
this annual report and other financial disclosures as required by the Listing
Rules. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position on a going concern basis. A statement by the external auditor
of the Company in respect of its reporting responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal control
and acknowledges that it has the ultimate responsibility for overseeing
the management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an on-going
basis. The Board also acknowledges that it is responsible for reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Group maintained the risk management and internal control systems
which are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or losses caused by judgement in
decision making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities. These
systems cover key controls over financial, operational and compliance
controls and, including but not limited to, risk management functions,
adequacy of resources of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and an annual control and risk self-assessment process.
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Corporate Governance Report

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out in the CG
Code, the Board has retained an external independent professional firm as
the outsourced internal auditor with a view to facilitating the adequacy of
resources and quality of review to satisfy the Group’s internal audit function
as required by the Stock Exchange and to assist the Board to perform
annual reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes
and budget.

During the year, the Group had conducted an annual risk assessment
which identified respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks
and compliance risks for the Group. Based on the risk assessment results
following a risk based methodology audit approach, a three-year audit plan
was devised which prioritised the risks identified into annual audit projects.
The annual review was performed according to the audit plan with a view
to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in evaluating the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Group
had taken further steps to enhance its risk management and internal control
systems based on some weaknesses identified during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control systems, and had strengthened the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has also established a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information that sets out the procedures in handling inside information
in an accurate and secure manner and to avoid possible mishandling of
inside information within the Group. Those procedures mainly include the
following:

o no Directors or employees shall disclose inside information to any
third parties. Directors or employees who are in possession of inside
information are obliged to preserve confidentiality and restrict access
to the information on a need-to-know and confidential basis;

o the Company is obliged to comply with the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and make disclosure of any inside information as soon as
practicable if the Board decides an announcement is required; and

o any Director or employee shall report to the Chief Executive Officer,
chief financial officer and company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) of the Company immediately when he or she is aware of
any potential inside information.

During the year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and considers them effective and adequate.
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Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are set out in the
section headed “Risks and Uncertainties” under the “Directors’ Report”.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee, consisting of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Chak Hung
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Choi Kin Man and Mr. Ngai Wah
Sang, is delegated with the authority from the Board to review and provide
independent oversight of the financial statements and reporting, risk
management and internal control systems, and the adequacy of the external
and internal audits.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines as set
out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial statements and reports and significant financial reporting
judgements, effectiveness of internal audit function, risk management
and internal control systems, audit process, appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditors, arrangements which employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group together with the management of the Company, and
had reviewed and approved the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 as set out in this annual report.

During the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings (the attendance
records of the members at the meeting are set out in the section headed
“Board - Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt with
matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review the
interim and annual results of the Group and discuss and recommend for
the Board’s approval the relevant financial reports, the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, significant accounting and audit issues, scope of audit, re-
appointment of external auditor and its independence, risk assessment result
and internal audit activities, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experiences of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget and review the whistle
blower policy, review and discuss the audit plan from the external auditor and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor
during the year.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit services rendered
to the Group by the external auditor and ensures that the engagement
of the external auditor in other non-audit services will not impair its audit
independence or objectivity. The external auditor had confirmed to the Audit
Committee that during the course of its audit on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and thereafter up to
the date of this annual report, it is independent of the Group in accordance
with the independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Auditor’s Remuneration

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor,
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, and its affiliates in respect of audit and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out as follows:
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HK$’000

Services rendered for the Group: EAKTERRE RS FAET
Audit service ZEARTS 1,200
Non-audit services FERZBBR TS 555
1,755

The Audit Committee had reviewed and approved the above fee in respect
of audit service and non-audit services provided to the Group by the
external auditor and its affiliates for the year. The non-audit services for
the year ended 31 March 2022 included review of interim results, review
of indebtedness statement included in the composite document of the
Company dated 8 November 2021, Australia tax analysis, internal audit
review and risk assessment, and review of environmental, social and
governance report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the
corporate governance duties. Such duties are, including but not limited to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and
the Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the abovementioned
corporate governance functions.
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SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy setting out the
principles of the Company in relation to shareholders’ communications, with
the objective of ensuring that its communications with the Shareholders are
timely, transparent, accurate and open.

Corporate information dissemination is achieved via the following means:

. The annual general meeting of the Company allows the Directors to
meet and communicate with the Shareholders. The notice of annual
general meeting of the Company and the circulars with details of
each of the proposed resolutions and other relevant information are
distributed to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to
the annual general meeting of the Company as set out in the Listing
Rules. At the annual general meeting of the Company, separate
resolutions are proposed for each of the issues and are voted on
by poll. The Shareholders can raise questions directly to the Board
in respect of business performance and future development of the
Group. The poll results are published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

o Publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars.

o The websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, on which the
electronic copies of financial reports and the latest information of the
Company are available.

The website of the Company provides the Shareholders with contact details
of the Company such as telephone number, fax number, email address and
postal address. The Shareholders may address their enquiries and concerns
to the Board via these means.

General Meetings
During the year, the annual general meeting was held on 8 September 2021.

Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) setting
out the approach to recommend the dividend payment. According to the
Dividend Policy, the declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not limited to,
the financial performance and position of the Company, business conditions
and strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may consider declaring special dividends from time to time,
in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during
recommendation and declaration of dividends.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company in order
to enable them to make any enquiries that they may have with respect to
the Company. In addition, Shareholders can contact the share registrar
and transfer office of the Company if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividends.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company who have the right to
vote at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to request
the Board to convene a special general meeting for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board does not proceed duly to call such meeting, the
Shareholders who requested such meeting may themselves call a special
general meeting.

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution are
encouraged to convene a special general meeting in accordance with the
paragraph hereinabove.

Investor Relations

For the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no change in the Bye-
laws which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is accountable to the
Board for ensuring that correct Board procedures are followed and that the
Board is fully briefed on all legislative and regulatory developments, and to
advise the Board on all corporate governance matters. Pursuant to Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary undertook at least 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year.

Please refer to the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report on pages 41 to 44 for further information
of the Company Secretary.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company
presents this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are the trading of milk powder and
baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”), the provision of mobile handset
solution (the “Mobile Business”) and property investment (the “Property
Investment”). An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 by business segments is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
on page 51 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). No interim dividend was declared or paid
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months
ended 30 September 2021 (30 September 2020: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy setting out the approach to
recommend the dividend payment. Please refer to the section headed
“Dividend Policy” under the “Corporate Governance Report” for details.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set

out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
and “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 4 to 6, pages 7 to 13 and
pages 14 to 25 of this annual report and the paragraphs below. A discussion
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance and the Group’s
compliance with relevant laws and regulations as well as an account of the
Group’s key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and
others that have a significant impact on the Group will also be provided
in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”. All such
discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

Risks and Uncertainties

The following section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to the key risk areas outlined below.
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General Economic and Market Conditions

The businesses of the Group may be affected by the global economic and
market conditions. Slow economic growth or a recession could have a
significant impact on the results of operations of the Group, particularly the
Mobile Business. As the service of the Mobile Business is applied in the
production of mobile handsets, which would be sold ultimately to end-users
in the retail market, any drop in purchasing power could lead to a drop in the
demand for the Group’s services and products. It is the industry norm for
consumer electronics market to be very sensitive to changes in the global
economy. However, compared to the service industry or luxury products,
the Group’s Milk Products Business, which is mainly trading in milk powder
and baby foods, would face less pressure. The Group cannot control market
conditions but believes it has adequate measures in place to respond to the
changes.

Competitive Environment

The Group’s Mobile Business faces competition from other mobile handset
production services providers. Mobile handset production providers in
the People’s Republic of China and other Asian countries may have the
capability to provide services similar to that of the Group at competitive
prices. The Group’s Milk Products Business also faces competition from
other distributors. Failure to compete successfully with the existing and/or
potential competitors may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations. To mitigate the risk of competition, the
Group continues to focus on the pricing basis of its products, its service,
variety of product offerings, access to resources, sales and marketing,
network and production efficiency.

Rapid technological changes

The mobile handset industry is characterised by rapid technological
changes. Existing products may need to be improved and enhanced as new
industry standards are being introduced regularly. The Group’s prospects
may be adversely affected if it is unable to keep abreast of technological
advancement in a timely and cost-effective manner by improving and
enhancing its existing products and services and by introducing new
products. The Group obtained information on the latest market trends with
respect to product designs and technical requirements through technological
collaboration with customers and suppliers, and has responded to changing
market demands through its experience in the field of telecommunication
products development.

Prices of Components

The profits and performance of the Group’s Mobile Business depend on
various factors including the costs of production. Increase in prices of mobile
handset components such as glass, motherboard, memory and batteries
will in turn increase the costs of production of the Group, and any shortage
or interruption in the supply of major components could disrupt the Group’s
operations. To minimise the risk on prices and supply of components, the
Group has attained price and supply advantages through placing large
volume orders and maintaining long-term relationships with suppliers.

Coronavirus disease 2019 (the “COVID-19”)

The business operations and financial performance of the Group may
be continuously affected by COVID-19 pandemic. As mentioned above,
slow economic growth or a recession could have a significant impact on
the results of operations of the Group, particularly the Mobile Business.
It is difficult to assess the severity of impact on the economy caused by
COVID-19. The Group has scaled down the operations of the Mobile
Business, actively reducing operating costs through cost cutting measures
so as to overcome challenges.
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Risks and Measures for Reliance on Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the Group’s five largest customers combined and five largest
suppliers combined accounted for 94.3% of the sales of the Group and
97.4% of the purchases of the Group, respectively.

In- minimising the risk of a heavy reliance on a narrow base of customers,
the Group has been actively pursuing new potential customers in order to
broaden its customer base.

The Group has maintained long-term relationships with the suppliers and
also established a strategic supplier system via strategic cooperation with
key component suppliers, forming a framework for mutual growth and
support.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its suppliers. However,
the operations of the Group largely depend on stable supply of components
and products from the suppliers. Failure to maintain a relationship with
the suppliers may adversely affect the Group’s results of operations. The
Group dedicates to fostering strong and long-term cooperation relationships
with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced and quality supply of
components and products for its operation.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks. A discussion of the
policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types
of financial risks which the Group is facing is included in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to ensuring compliance with the laws and
regulations which govern the Group’s businesses and operations. The Group
has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group throughout the year. Further details about the Group’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group are set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which would be published no later than five months
after the end of the financial year.

Financial Key Performance Indicators
Details about the Group’s financial key performance indicators are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Details about the Group’s environmental policies and performance are set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which
would be published no later than five months after the end of the financial
year.
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Relationship with Employees

The Group strongly believes that its staff is an invaluable asset to the Group
and is significant to the Group’s business. Therefore, the Group recognises
the importance of maintaining a good relationship with employees. The
Group maintains a policy of paying competitive remuneration. Remuneration
of employees which included salary and discretionary performance bonus is
decided with reference to the results of the Group, the market level as well as
individual performance and contributions. Remuneration packages including
performance bonuses are reviewed on a regular basis by the Group.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with employees are also set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which
would be published no later than five months after the end of the financial
year.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its customers. It will
maintain existing relationships with its customers and expand its customer
base to enhance its market presence.

The Group dedicates itself to fostering strong and long-term cooperation
relationships with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced and quality
supply of components and products for its operation.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with customers and
suppliers are also set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which would be published no later than five months
after the end of the financial year.

CHANGE OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER AND THE
UNCONDITIONAL MANDATORY CASH OFFER

On 29 September 2021 (after trading hours), Alpha Professional
Development Limited (“APDL”), the then controlling shareholder of the
Company and Well Dynasty Investments Limited (“Well Dynasty”) entered
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which APDL has
conditionally agreed to sell and Well Dynasty has conditionally agreed to
acquire 177,965,114 shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) (the “Sale
Shares”) representing approximately 56.61% of the then issued Share
capital. Following the completion of the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares
which took place on 29 September 2021 (the “Completion”), Well Dynasty
has become the parent and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

In accordance with the Code on Takeovers and Mergers issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong, Well Dynasty has made
an unconditional mandatory cash offer (the “Offer”) for all the issued shares
of the Company (other than those Shares already owned and/or agreed
to be acquired by Well Dynasty and parties acting in concert with it) (the
“Offer Shares”) and there were 26 valid acceptances in respect of a total of
15,061,501 Offer Shares under the Offer. Details of the Offer were set out in
the joint announcements of the Company and Well Dynasty dated 4 October
2021, 22 October 2021 and 29 November 2021, respectively and the
composite document of the Company dated 8 November 2021. Immediately
after the close of the Offer, Well Dynasty’s shareholding in the Company
increased to 61.40%.
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Well Dynasty is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Miracle Planet Developments
Limited, which in turn is a company wholly-owned by Ms. Chong Sok
Un (“Ms. Chong”). Immediately prior to the Completion, Vigor Online
Offshore Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Spirit Limited, owned
14,000,000 Shares, and Ms. Chong owned 100% beneficial interests
in China Spirit Limited. As at 31 March 2022, Ms. Chong was deemed
to be interested in approximately 65.86% of the issued Share capital of
the Company and was regarded as the ultimate controlling party of the
Company.

THE PLACING AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 31 March 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) with Morton Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”),
pursuant to which, the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as the placing
agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort basis, not less than
six placees (the “Placees”) to subscribe for up to 34,920,000 Shares (the
“Placing Shares”) at the placing price of HK$1.40 per Placing Share (the
“Placing”). The market price of the Shares on 31 March 2022, the date on
which the terms of the Placing were fixed, was HK$1.37 per Share.

The Placing Shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate
granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company
convened on 8 September 2021. The Directors are of the view that
the Placing will enhance the capital base and shareholders base of the
Company. In addition, the net proceeds of the Placing will strengthen
the Group’s financial position supporting the operations and business
development of the Group. The Placing was completed after the year ended
31 March 2022, whereby on 10 May 2022, with a total of 34,920,000
Placing Shares being successfully placed to not less than six Placees who
are individuals, professionals, institutional or other investors whom the
Placing Agent has procured to subscribe for any of the Placing Shares
pursuant to its obligations under the Placing Agreement who (including
its ultimate beneficial owners) are regarded as public (as defined in the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™)) and independent
of and not connected with the Company, the Directors, chief executive and
substantial shareholders of the Group or any of their respective associates.
The aggregate nominal value of the Placing Shares is US$5.6 million. The
gross proceeds from the Placing were approximately HK$48.9 million while
the net proceeds were approximately HK$47.8 million (after deduction of
commission and other expenses of the Placing), representing a net issue
price of approximately HK$1.37 per Placing Share. Details of the Placing
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 31 March 2022,
11 April 2022 and 10 May 2022, respectively.
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It is intended that the net proceeds of approximately HK$47.8 million would
be used by the Group in the following manner:

(i) approximately HK$47.3 million shall be used for the purchase of
inventory for the Milk Products Business by the end of June 2022; and

(ii) approximately HK$0.5 million shall be used for general working
capital of the Group, including salary payments for the recruitment of
additional staff responsible for the Milk Products Business.

As at 31 March 2022, the Placing had not been completed and the gross
proceeds had not been received. Subsequent to the completion of the
Placing on 10 May 2022 and as at the date of this report, the net proceeds
from the Placing of approximately HK$47.3 million have been used for the
purchase of inventory for the Milk Products Business. The remaining balance
of approximately HK$0.5 million intended to be used for general working
capital is expected to be used by the end of August 2022.

DIRECTORS

The list of the Directors is set out below and their biographical information
are set out in the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” from pages 41 to 44 of this annual report.

Executive Directors

Xiong Jianrui (Chairman)

Yi Peijian (Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Zeyu

Chen Xu (appointed on 8 December 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Chak Hung

Choi Kin Man

Ngai Wah Sang

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”),
Mr. Chen Xu will retire from office as Director at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 8 September 2022
(the “AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election as Director
at the AGM, and be subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the
AGM.
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Pursuant to bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Xiong Jianrui, Mr. Yi Peijian and
Mr. Choi Kin Man will retire from office as Director at the AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Director at the AGM, and be
subject to separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider each of
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM had a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their service contract or appointment letter as
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, with reference to the results of the Group, the market as well as
individual performance and contributions.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to bye-law 164(1) of the Bye-laws, each Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he or she may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance in respect of the liabilities and costs associated with any
proceedings which may be brought against its Directors and officers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2022.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued Shares was 314,360,383
of US$0.16 each (2021: 314,360,383 Shares of US$0.16 each).

Details of movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2022 are set out in note 27(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “The Placing and Use of Proceeds”
and “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting held on 8 September 2020. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 8 September 2020 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:

1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and reward
participants who have contributed to the Group and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its Shares for the benefit of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole.

2. Participants
The participants are any Directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
Shareholders and employees of the Group and any advisers and
consultants of any member of the Group who the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group.
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Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of
all share options granted or to be granted under the mandate of the
Share Option Scheme was 31,436,038 Shares, representing 10%
of the issued Shares as at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme and approximately 9% of the issued Shares as at the date of
this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for
the time being, unless approved by the Shareholders.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee upon the grant of options, such period which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant option.
Options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which
an option must be held or the performance targets which must be
achieved before the option can be exercised, under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the payment
period

An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives
from the grantee the offer letter signed by the grantee specifying the
number of Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted, and a
remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant
of the option within 28 days from the grant. Such remittance is not
refundable in any circumstance.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but in any event shall not be less than the higher of:

(@  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(¢)  the nominal value of the Shares.

9. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years
commencing on 8 September 2020 up to and including 7 September
2030.

As at 31 March 2022, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately 8 years 5 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 8 September 2020
and up to 31 March 2022, no options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled. At the beginning and at the end of the financial year ended 31
March 2022, the Company has no outstanding options.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during or at the end of the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate with the exception of granting of
share options to subscribe for Shares under the share option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors, chief executives of the
Company nor their associates had any other personal, family, corporate
and other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’

INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons or entities, other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company, had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the

SFO, or which were notified to the Company:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

FERRRAEMAT 2 Em

RIZEZ_F=ZRA=+—H ' UTALTHE
B UFEFHAERATDETETHAR) KK
MEEEAROD EERRESEERESR
HRIAE KRG EIBCHERERFETECH
R RBITHEERBIREIRE !

M RBRARG ZFE

Approximate

Number of percentage of the

issued total number of

Shares held issued Shares (Note)

Name of Shareholder Capacity FrisB 81T HERITROEHZ

RERBTE 519 KRHEE BEAY & 53 EE o

Well Dynasty Beneficial owner 193,026,615 61.40%

B Bm#EAA

Ms. Chong Interests of controlled corporation 207,026,615 65.86%
s SYnEE S Note 2
(HF322)

Sun Hung Kai Structured Person having a security interest 177,965,114 56.61%
Finance Limited in shares (Note 3)
MEREEERERRAR FERMNRBEGNAL (Hi320)

Shipshape Investments Limited  Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 56.61%
Shipshape Investments Limited =35 E % QSR
(F§5E3)

Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 56.61%
EERRAR SEEEE G (Note 3)
(HF5E3)

Allied Group Limited Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 56.61%
HEEEBRAR SEEEER (ex]
(Hi5E4)

Lee Seng Hui Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 56.61%
Rk iE REEERT (Note 4
(H34)

Lee Seng Huang Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 56.61%
=P SEEEE D (Note 4
(FfsE4)

Lee Su Hwei Interests of controlled corporation 177,965,114 56.61%
FRE SEEEER (Note 4)
(Hi5E4)
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Notes:

The percentage of the total number of issued Share is based on the 314,360,383
Shares issued as at 31 March 2022.

Well Dynasty is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Miracle Planet Developments Limited,
which in turn is a company wholly owned by Ms. Chong. Vigor Online Offshore
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Spirit Limited, owns 14,000,000 Shares.
Ms. Chong owns 100% beneficial interests in China Spirit Limited. Accordingly, Ms.
Chong is deemed to have an interest of (i) 193,026,615 Shares through Miracle Planet
Developments Limited and Well Dynasty; and (i) 14,000,000 Shares through China
Spirit Limited and Vigor Online Offshore Limited.

As at 31 March 2022, 177,965,114 Shares were mortgaged to Sun Hung Kai
Structured Finance Limited as a continuing security under a share mortgage dated
29 September 2021 entered into by Well Dynasty (as mortgagor) and Sun Hung Kai
Structured Finance Limited.

Sun Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited was wholly owned by Shipshape
Investments Limited which was in turn wholly owned by Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited.
Therefore, through Sun Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited’s having a security
interest in the 177,965,114 Shares, each of Shipshape Investments Limited and Sun
Hung Kai & Co. Limited was deemed to be interested in the 177,965,114 Shares.

As at 31 March 2022, Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited was owned as to approximately
73.09% by Allied Group Limited (“AGL”") via its subsidiaries. AGL was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited was
interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of
the Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled
approximately 74.96% of the total number of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr.
Lee Seng Hui’'s personal interests) as at 31 March 2022, and was therefore deemed to
have an interest in the shares in which AGL was interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there were no other persons
or entities, other than Directors or chief executives of the Company, had or
were deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO, or which were notified to the Company.

Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

BRTROEHEZENERER -2
=A=+—HB#172314,360,383/ A% 13
Fo

1§ AMiracle Planet Developments Limitedz
2EHB/AF) > MMiracle Planet Developments
LimitedAH X T2 &#®B ZA8 °Vigor
Online Offshore LimitedZChina Spirit Limited
Z2EMWBAB #E14,000,0008% 15 ° i
%+ China Spirit Limited#75100% 5 & 1
o [F I > HZ TR A ()FE BMiracle Planet
Developments Limited #1575 193,026,615
BRAR1H 5 Re(i)iBEBChina Spirit Limited K Vigor
Online Offshore Limited#%14,000,0004% A% {5 &0
R

RIBZ_F=F=+—8 > REES ((FRR
BA) B REGERREARARRIBBR
TEC-FAAZTABRMIZE B
177,965,114 IR 17 1218 B 1R F ¥ B E S 18R
HEARAR LUERFERIR -

MBEEEMEBRASBShipshape
Investments LimitedZ & #7% > MShipshape
Investments Limited B BEERABTEE
BEE - RHIL ZBHMBEEERERBRAE
177,965 114D EB 2 REER
Shipshape Investments Limited % ¥ E & AR A
Bl AR A F 177,965,114 AR D P B 1% o

RIBZ_F=ZA=+—H HEEERAT
HEEEEARAR (MEEE)) BBAME
NEFEEXIT3.09% Mt 5 EBMERMARAR R
BHBEARABMFRN 2 at -

N _E2__F=A=+—H FphEXLE =

MEB L+ REMIERESLee and Lee Trust (B
(S50 BIE5E A oLee and Lee TrustiZhBi &
LEBBTRNEHLNT496% (BIFEEMBL
EHNEAER)  AMERAREHSERME
Az fEws o

bR EXEBEEN RS _F=B=+—
B #iEAt AT EE WIFEEHE AT

FET

THABR) M SERERG T EEXN

WR R HERERBE SR ERAE336FR
ERFEEERMA ABTNERATHN
PETHB A

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK

37



38

Directors’ Report
EEERE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the law
of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has not entered into
any transactions which constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Chen Zeyu was a
substantial shareholder of ANZ Organic Pty Ltd. in Australia until February
2022, which is engaged in the business of baby formula and vitamins
trading, who is considered to have interests in a business which compete
or are likely to compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Although the above-mentioned Director had competing interests in another
company by virtue of his shareholding, he has fulfiled and will fulfil his
fiduciary duties in order to ensure that he will act in the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length
from, the businesses of such companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and their respective
associates had any direct or indirect interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the business of the Group to which the Group was a party, and in which a
Director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

There were not any contracts of significance entered into between the Group
and any controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries during or at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2022.
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There were no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts concerning the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were approximately 94.3% and 97.4% of the Group’s sales
and purchases, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 48.7% and 45.9% of the Group’s sales and
purchases, respectively.

Based on the available information to the Directors, none of the Directors, or
any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which owns more than 5%
of the total number of issued Shares) had an interest in these major suppliers
or customers of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 March 2022 at
approximately AUD7.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$43.5 million).
The valuation gain on investment property of approximately HK$1.4 million
has been credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Movements in investment property during the year are shown in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are shown in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY

Particulars of property held for investment of the Group at 31 March 2022
are set out on page 144 of this annual report.

BORROWING

The Group had no outstanding borrowings as at 31 March 2022 (31 March
2021: Nil).

RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company has no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
are summarised on page 143 of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2021: Nil).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 14 to 25 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report (being
8 July 2022), based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited acted as the auditor of the Company and audited
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited

Xiong Jianrui
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

XIONG Jianrui (“Mr. Xiong”)

Mr. Xiong, aged 58, has been an executive director and the chairman of the
board of directors of the Company since 30 November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is also a director of Alpha Professional
Development Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company until
29 September 2021) (“APDL”), and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Xiong holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Information Engineering
from The Xi Bei Institute of Telecommunications Engineering.

Mr. Xiong has over 22 years of experience in telecommunication technology
and business management. He is currently a partner in Express Team
Holdings Inc. Mr. Xiong was an executive director of China Uptown Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Techwayson Holdings Limited and
The Quaypoint Corporation Limited, shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), Stock Code: 2330) from May 2003 to November 2005 and
from December 2008 to June 2012. Mr. Xiong also was a non-executive
director of Great World Company Holdings Ltd (formerly known as T S
Telecom Technologies Limited, shares of which are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8003) from October 2007 to December 2007,
a non-executive director of Anxin-China Holdings Limited (shares of which
were formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from June
2017 to December 2018 and a non-executive director of Grown Up Group
Investment Holdings Limited (shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1842) from February 2018 to May 2020.

Y1 Peijian (“Mr. Yi”)

Mr. Yi, aged 51, has been an executive director and the chief executive
officer of the Company since 30 November 2017. He was a member of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company
from November 2017 to October 2020. He is also a director of APDL, and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yi holds a Doctor’s
Degree of Philosophy in Statistics from Xiamen University.

Mr. Yi is currently a director of Qianhai Hongtai Fund Management Co.,

Ltd.* (BI/B5AREEEEBRAE), Shenzhen Nanshan Liangwan Equity
Investment and Fund Management Company Limited* GZ3IIEg LU /1 & B& 1
LERSEEARAT)and Sanjohn Investment Management (Cayman)
Company Limited, and was the vice-chairman and a director of Shenzhen
Warranty Assets Management Co., Ltd.* (R ERGZEEBIESREAL
7)) (“Shenzhen Warranty”) from November 2018 to December 2019 and
the president of Shenzhen Warranty from January 2010 to October 2018,
a director of Shenzhen Huakong Seg Company Limited* GF I HE =48 %
3B RAE)) (shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 000068) from March 2014 to September 2015, a director of
True Yoga Holdings Limited from May 2017 to October 2019, a director of
Chengdu Zhifutong New Information Technology Services Company Limited*
(R EBZ (T @ H 15 B TR ¥ B FRA E]) from October 2011 to August
2020, and a director of TFKT True Holdings from June 2017 to October
2020.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBEAER

CHEN Zeyu (“Mr. Chen”)

Mr. Chen, aged 34, has been an executive director of the Company since
18 October 2019. He is also a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company. He was a member of the nomination committee of Company
from October 2019 to December 2021. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’'s Degree of Social
Science in Economics from the University of New South Wales.

Mr. Chen has over 6 years of experience in cross-border trading business.
He has successfully founded distribution channels between Australia
and China, involving in the establishment of management system for
the integration of cross-border e-commerce and e-marketing. Prior to
the founding of distribution channels, Mr. Chen had also participated in
various real estate projects including research and analysis of real estate
developments in Australia for over 3 years.

CHEN Xu (“Mr. Chen Xu”)

Mr. Chen Xu, aged 37, has been an executive director of the Company
since 8 December 2021. He is also a member of the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Chen Xu holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science and
Engineering in Computer Science from Waseda University in Japan and
a Master of Business Administration (MBA) Degree from the University of
Oxford in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Chen Xu has more than 8 years of experience in private equity
investment in the consumption and technology field, secondary market
investment, and bond investment. Prior to joining the Company, he had
worked for Wells Fargo Securities (Japan) Co., Ltd. as a fixed income trader
in the Capital Markets Department, and Tradeweb Markets LLC (currently a
subsidiary of Tradeweb Markets Inc. (NASDAQ: TW)) as an electronic trading
professional for bonds, equities and derivatives.

LI Chak Hung (“Mr. Li”)

Mr. Li, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 18 October 2019. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of each of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree of
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is
also a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and
financial management. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock Code: 271) and Summit Ascent
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102), and was an independent non-executive
director of Alibaba Pictures Group Limited (Stock Code: 1060) from
September 2004 to June 2014, DreamEast Group Limited (Stock Code:
598) from October 2004 to December 2019 and Sandmartin International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 482) from September 2016 to August 2021,
the shares of all such companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

CHOI Kin Man (“Mr. Choi”)

Mr. Choi, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 1 March 2020. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Choi holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Journalism from Jinan
University and a Master’s Degree of Business Administration from University
of South Australia.

Mr. Choi has over 16 years of experience in the media and public relations
industry. He is currently the managing director of Shima & Co. Limited, and
an independent non-executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock
Code: 271), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, and was previously a director of Capital Communications Corp.,
and had participated in a number of public relations and communications
projects.

NGAI Wah Sang (“Mr. Ngai”)

Mr. Ngai, aged 63, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 28 October 2020. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of each of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Ngai holds a Bachelor's Degree
in Science from the University of London in the United Kingdom. He is a
fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants respectively.

Mr. Ngai has broad experience in auditing, accounting, financial management
and dealing with business development and investments and previously
worked for international accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong
and overseas. He is currently an independent non-executive director of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (Stock Code: 28), which is listed on
the Stock Exchange. He served as an independent non-executive director of
Real Nutriceutical Group Limited (a company previously listed on the Stock
Exchange until 25 January 2021).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Xianke (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 40, has been the General Manager (Business Development)
of the Company since January 2021. He joined the Group in 2020. He is a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ma holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accounting from Wuhan University and a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies. He is
a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Ma has over 10 years of experience in auditing, consulting and
counselling for the listing of A shares in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and H shares in Hong Kong. He also has extensive experience in
cross-border e-commerce and trading development in the PRC. Previously,
he worked in Guangzhou Branch of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian
LLP and Shenzhen Weekens E-Commerce Co., Limited* CEYI 4 E K E
FEBERRAE).
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBEAER

CHAN Chun Hong (“Mr. Chan”)

Mr. Chan, aged 44, has been the chief financial officer, the company
secretary and the authorised representative of the Company since 7 January
2020. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor’'s Degree of Business Administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Chan has more than 20 years of experience working in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Company, he had

worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong.

* For identification purpose only
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Alpha Professional
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 51 to 142 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Valuation of investment property

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on pages 59 to 60.

The Key Audit Matter
E & P

We identified the valuation of investment property as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with significant degree of
judgment associated with determining the fair value. As at 31 March
2022, the fair value of the investment property was HK$43,473,000.
GRHEETATEERRAENEZLREE ANEREGRaMHS
BRERNEREESEN EEHIREMEZER—BRAREZS
B R ZZBZ_F=ZRB=+—H BEWEZ A FEER43,473,000
BT

As disclosed in notes 2.3(c) and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the investment property is stated at fair value based on
valuation performed by the independent professional property valuer.
In determining the fair value of investment property, the independent
professional property valuer adopted market comparison approach.
The valuation is dependent on certain key inputs that involve the
management and independent professional property valuer’s
judgement. The key inputs used in valuing the investment property
by the independent professional property valuer include recent prices
achieved by similar properties, current market conditions, market
rental and market yield as adopted in the valuation.

AR B FE IR R EE2.3(c) 16T IR » M EMEZRBE U EEY)
EGEMETZEERATEEIR REEREMEZATEE
B B HEYEGEMRATISLEDE - hEEUAN S TR
WA REREMBUSEEYELEMNAE - BUFEEYEMS
BN EERRAR TG EYENRER WA SEEL T AN
B BAITR MBS K5 o
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How the matter was addressed in
our audit

BEENERPNMAEEZEE

Our procedures in relation to the
valuation of investment property
included

SHEMRBEMELENEFSRE

. Evaluating the competence,
capability and objectivity of
the independent professional
property valuer;

THEBE I EEY EGEEMNE
BN REEMN

. Obtaining an understanding from
the independent professional
property valuer about the
valuation methodology, the
performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions
adopted, critical judgement on
key inputs and data used in the
valuation;
BEIIEEYELEMES G
BERE-MEDBRR XA
WEARR  HEEPERNE
8 R BB A RA B H B ;

° Assessing whether the property
was valued on a consistent basis
using a consistent methodology
by inquiring of management
and independent professional
property valuer; and
BRBAEERERBIIEEY
EMGEM STEMERTE R
WER EFER SN HEET
HE; &

. Assessing the reasonableness
of source data used in the
valuations by benchmarking the
assumptions to relevant market
information on sales prices and
rentals achieved by the similar
properties in the neighbourhood.
ERBE AT EUYEHEE
BEREEENERATHEERN
R AR 2L IS E R E A
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to notes 19 and 30(a) to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 65 to 69 and page 76.

The Key Audit Matter
FAREIZEIE

We identified the valuation of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgement made by the management associated with the
determination of the impairment assessments of trade receivables.
HEEEEEFENEETE S RN IEE’LWE&TEEE%EU# BTy E
EURE ARNERARSMBRENEREEL  EFHIES
FEWRIE Z [h{E 7 — BRI B R EE

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
the carrying amount of trade receivables is HK$51,823,000 as at 31
March 2022 including the expected credit loss of HK$1,954,000.
ﬂmeW?ﬁﬁm&w%ﬁﬁ-m:ﬁ__E* =+—g;
B S EWHRIEY REE 451,828,000 BiEEHEEEIE
1,954,000 7z

As disclosed in note 2.3(f)(i), the management of the Group estimated
the lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) of trade receivables through
grouping of various debtors that have similar loss patterns, after
considering credit profile of different customers, repayment history and
past due status of respective trade receivables.
MAMHIEE2.3()()FT i B KEBABEANGEEBE R EHEBZEW
SENEBCERBTANR IS SEMEBEBBHELSSE
LU IS SR R R B AT DR 165 B 5 B Y 2 #R Fa 2R
E8&5E (FREEERHEED
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How the matter was addressed in
our aud

ﬁ"%ﬁqﬂﬂﬂﬂ&ﬁﬁ‘?%lﬁ

Our procedures in relation to
impairment assessments of trade
receivables included:

EE 8 5 RBHRIBN R ETHET
R EIE

o obtaining an understanding
of the management’s internal
control and assessment process
of impairment assessment of
trade receivables and assessed
the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk
factors;
Tﬁ@*ﬁ)ﬁ%%%ﬁ%‘u&ﬂlﬁﬂ’]
/UHED:FTEB 79 EB : BEVE K s A2
F o Wi @iE %%TEEJW\EEE'I&EE’\J
EERAMEB ERERBK
qu EEAERRRNEER R

. Testing the trade receivables
aging analysis as at 31 March
2022, on a sampling basis, by
comparing individual items in the
analysis with the relevant sales
agreements, sales invoices and
other supportmg documents;
EBLBEATPNEBER R
MERATHE ek SN B R B HAM
SR SR G QU il o g —
F=HB=+—HWEZEKR
IEHE#&NE

. Evaluating management’s basis
in developing the ECL model,
T EREEREUEREERE
IREURIEIE |

o Assessing the reasonableness of
the historical loss rates used in
the ECL model by corroborating
the credit profile of the respective
customers with their historical
settlement pattern; and
EBREEFNESL BRI
:_\LEH1D E#j(/ﬁ _$TE%EHH 11:1 =
BEEELMARLBERENSG
B &

. Evaluating the forward-
looking information used by
management by comparing
against publicly available
economic information.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022

Sze Chor Chun, Yvonne
Practising Certificate Number P0O5049
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Consolidated Statement of Profit Or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GAelEakHEMNEEWER

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross (loss)/profit

Other income

Other gains and losses
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
Finance costs

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Income tax expenses

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/

INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF INCOME TAX
[tem that may be reclassified

subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, net of income tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

LN
HEME

% (1) /7

HAMRA
HA I K 548
HERDHRAX
THER

RELEZEER
RE M

PRI ARG 1R
PRSI SZ

FRERREERFERSE

FEEHMEE
(B518) Wz
HERFRISIR
HErEENoBEERN
EQ:
MEIBINERS BN
ER L

FEEHMET BB
Wk o BRFAIS IR

FRERREG
FEERME
E5i84%R

BREE

BERK#E

The notes on pages 56 to 142 form part of these financial statements.

SN,

F=ZR=+—HLFE

2022 2021

ZEIHF B4

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FET
6(a) 461,763 268,099
(467,117) (261,887)

(5,354) 6,212

7 3,865 767
8 (2,402) (627)
(4,112) (1,340)
(20,418) (19,482)
(28,421) (14,470)
9(a) (104) (130)
9 (28,525) (14,600)
10(a) (3,119) (393)
(31,644) (14,993)

(2,497) 311

(2,497) 311

(34,141) (14,682)

HK cents HK cents

b= 311 Bl

13

(10.1) (4.8)

BE6E142B 2 NE R A RE M HRER ZE

PLER D

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBIRTR

At 31 March 2022 RZE-_#F#=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Rental deposit
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

Net assets
Capital and reserves

Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the

Company and total equity

FFRBEE
BREYFE
Y EN Y
By
HEZE
EIERIRE =

MENEE
FE
85 K B MR
Bl [EIRR A
R R IRTT AR

mEaE
B 5 R EHMBNRIER
aMmam
HE&R
PSR IR

MENEEFR
BMEERRBER

FERFAR
HEAE

BEPE

BERHEE
(&N
(1

KRB IRREGERE K
T 8RR

2022 2021
=T =B —F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mizx FAET FAET
15 43,473 45,208
16 2,449 2,199
17 2,161 2,161
19 320 96
24(a) 315 =
48,718 49,664

18 4,811 52,641
19 104,077 66,286
313 537

20(a) 20,901 70,379
130,102 189,843

21 52,878 82,414
22 3,428 3,847
23 1,350 949
3,630 484

61,286 87,694

68,816 102,149

117,534 151,813

23 1,183 1,321
116,351 150,492

27(b) 391,672 391,672
(275,321) (241,180)

116,351 150,492

RIE - —_FABE_+HNHEARTESE
(MEx) g (B9 EKBRETE I

Approved and authorised for issue by the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of the Company on 24 June 2022 and are signed on its

behalf by: BEMIEENREE .
Xiong Jianrui Yi Peijian
AR B I S ER|
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITESE
The notes on pages 56 to 142 form part of these financial statements. FE6E1A2BZ AR GEMBiRKx A
R EB S ©
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At 1 April 2020

Change in equity for 2021

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Issuance of shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
upon placing (note 27(p))

Share issue expenses under placing (note 27(b))

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Change in equity for 2022

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2022

The notes on pages 56 to 142 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HPEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & F=ZB=+—HILFE

RIBZ2EMA-A
TR E7EREY
FEEBR
MBI ERSIME

ERER

rEERENE/ (BE) 88

REERTAATRM (R
(MEE27(b))

REESTRIAZ BX (HeE270)

RIEZ-E=A=+-Hk
- —FMmB—H

ZRITEVEGEY

rEEER

MBS ERSI B
ERER

rEERABRER

-y e e =

n‘7|' I:l*

T

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATRERER
Foreign
currency
Share Share translation ~ Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses equity
R RIVEE IMNERERE REER Mg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTET TR THEn TR
329,662 596,081 (82) (814,238) 111,423
- - - (14,993 (14,993
- - 311 - 311
- 311 (14,993 (14,682)
62,010 (7,010) - - 55,000
(1,249) - - (1,249)
391,672 587,822 229 (829,231) 150,492
- - - (31,644) (31,644)
- - (2,497) - (2,497)
- - (2,497) (31,644) (34,141)
391,672 587,822 (2,268) (860,875) 116,351

$B56FE1428 2 st A AWM MR Z AH A2

e

MEEERIERARAT o

—— —

—_—=——

FER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meaRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

BT F-HA=+—HLIEE

2022 2021
—ECF -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
b= FET FHET
Operating activities K& EE
Loss before taxation BRI ATESIE (28,525) (14,600)
Adjustments for: HEE
Interest income FEUWA 7 (6) (7)
Gain on lease modification HEESTWE 8 - (100)
Valuation (gain)/loss on REYEGE WR)
investment property 518 8 (1,402) 2,410
Finance costs =N 9(a) 104 130
Depreciation e 9(c) 1,339 1,556
Write-drown of inventories FEMR 18 - 18,696
Impairment loss of trade receivables B EWHIERERE 90 1,954 1,608
Impairment loss of prepayment A BB EEE 9(c) - 1,301
Unrealised exchange KREBIRERER
loss/(gain) (Y ) 81 (969)
Operating cash flows before CEESEFAZRERE
working capital changes ME (26,455) 10,025
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EFEERELD 7 (gm) 47,830 (59,215)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and 85 MHEMERZIE
other receivables =m R (39,969) 50,866
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 R EHMELRIE
other payables Gre2) /1800 (29,536) 50,032
Decrease in contract liabilities SHaEHR D (419) (5,096)
Cash (used in)/generated from & (FrA) FRig
operations & (48,549) 46,612
The People’s Republic of China BEfHEAREMEEEMR
Enterprise Income tax paid B/1R ) (29)
Australia Corporate income tax paid EBNEERER (34) =
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BAEEFER (@) (12)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RS (FRA) FrisiE
operating activities BEE (48,597) 46,571
Investing activities KREEE
Purchase of investment property BEREYE - (46,812)
Purchase of property, HBEME - BEXK
plant and equipment B2 (44) -
Interest received BIUFIE 6 7
Net cash used in investing activities R & ZHFTAIRS B (38) (46,805)
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Financing activities
Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid
Net proceeds from issuance of
Shares upon placing
Repayment of other borrowing
Interest paid for other borrowing

Net cash (used in)/generated
from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year

The notes on pages 56 to 142 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A Ao =gl —1
ZRIRERER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

MBS

BENHEREZEERED
BENHEHEREZMEED
RENECEEITRM ZFR

IR R
EEAMMEES
BENEMEERE

RUEEE (FRA) /PR

REFER

REMRFEEEEY
(Rb) /18 mmiBEa

FENRER
REFEY

SMNEEREF 2
wE P

FERRER
RELFEY

Notes

PyEE

20(b
20

TT

20(b)
20(b)

20(a)

2022 2021
—E-CH =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(1,286) (1,334)
(104) (126)

= 53,751

= (10,000)

S (67)
(1,390) 42,224
(50,025) 41,990
70,379 27,908
547 481
20,901 70,379

$B56FE1428 2 st A AWM MR Z AH A2

ﬁo

MEEERIERARAT o

—E__FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Registration No. 39519) (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda on 30 January 2007 under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The registered office of the Company is located at
Rose Cottage, 18 Parliament Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda with
effect from 17 May 2022. Its principal place of business is located at
Room 1902, 19th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s immediate parent was Well
Dynasty Investments Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability. The ultimate parent of the Company was Miracle
Planet Developments Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, and the ultimate controlling party
of the Company was Ms. Chong Sok Un. Neither of them produces

consolidated financial statements available for public use.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal

activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 29.

2.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRSs”), issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant

accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs which are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these consolidated financial

statements.

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to

as the “Group”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency,
and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where

otherwise indicated.
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2.2

2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
following asset is stated at its fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below:

- investment property, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 2.3(c)).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that
have significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss (see note
2.3(f)(iii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash—-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

Investment property

Investment property is land and/or buildings which is owned or
held under a leasehold interest (see note 2.3(e)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Investment property (Continued)

Investment property is stated at fair value, unless it is still in
the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and its fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
property is accounted for as described in note 2.3(0)(ii).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2.3(f)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest; and

- other items of property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (see note 2.3(e)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings situated thereon is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease.

Furniture and fixtures
Electronic equipment

3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8E_ T __F=HB=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers
from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow
hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
in profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net proceeds on disposal and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss
on the date of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Leased assets (Continued)

(i

As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2.3(d) and
2.3(f)(iii)), except for the following types of right-of-use
asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2.3(c).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Leased assets (Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
trade and other receivables carried at amortised cost (see
notes 2.3(i), 2.3(f)(i) and 2.3(o)(iii)). Any difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made and
is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in property, plant and
equipment and presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set
out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 “Leases”. In such
cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in
profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Leased assets (Continued)

@

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are
due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note 2.3(0)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the exemption described in note
2.3(e)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, other receivables and rental deposits,
which are held for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments of principal and
interest).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

S failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2.3(o)(iii) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

23 *

U]

EETERME (8

SERENEERE @

@

EHTRELIZEER
)

EEEREELEN (&)

RESRMIANMEE &
B & B B 1 B9 5T 1k
ZEREENEREEE
ToEMUEREEE
TR ERREMTAN
HEEERREE (HIWN
B B RS R {5 & L Bg BT
) BREE-

RMEEBEREAESRS
HEREHEE UM B
MR EEMIAEE
R B RHREEE
BEERNEREEHER
m EERD 2 R E W et B
B AEBEEDMA TR
T B B9 B W= 555 18
B @BBBERERRY
HEREEETHERE -

FE WAt EEGE

R R BT 5E2.3(0) (i) FE 5B HY
FEBWAREREENR
EBESE BRIFERE
EHREERE £5E
BRT > FEWAIZERR
EEMNBHAA BIRE
BERBRRER 8-

RERSEH ~&EEHE
HEEMEEETHIRE
ERE-E-—HAZEY
TREENGSRREE
MEFEEXENEMHE
ERCAEREEHRE
BREE.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair
value, which is determined by reference to fees charged
in an arm’s length transaction for similar services,
when such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued (see note 2.3(0)(iv)).

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are determined
to be higher than the carrying amount in respect of the
guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

23 *

U]

EGTEBERIE (8
SERENEERE @
(i) BRHYBEFREERE
&

MBRFRBEERFETA
(BMERA) ITHEER
BUAERZTZA (KA
A BEFAEAREER
BARERBEEB LA
RSB HIREMERE
BIIBRAISAY -

BEHNPBERTGBIZ
N EEED MATE
B EERESRAER
TUCERBY B R R B
T EEHE 1R S & 75 FEUERRY
st FE (HAERMER S
EHRI SRR 8 2E 4
BURF B AT 32 5 TP IR
BHNER (R ESZE
BRI (R X EEME
TE o fis I 3 H 2 B R BF UR
ey o] WER B Z B
ARBEAERBERNZE
BERBERM THER -
I EREE AR E S ER
WER A1 > B BD B i S e
B PR

R RERE > FIARER
BIREU A BI 2 BB HE R
HRRBETEEA B
HMBERNBA (BRI
££2.3(0)(iv)) ©

FEBRERIEERHAE
ME R > 0 B B R
NIEREEERERESS
RERIEREE BIF%A
HRBTEBRHEE) B
HERDRI A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued
(Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will
default has increased significantly since the guarantee is
issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in note
2.3(f)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an
ECL is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amount that the Group expects to receive from the
holder of the guarantee, the specified debtor or any other
party. The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- prepayments;

- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE_Z__

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iv)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
“Interim Financial Reporting”, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year (see notes 2.3(f)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2.3(0)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2.3(i)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 2.3(0)(iii)).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

@

(0

(k)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, and
including an allowance for credit losses (see note 2.3(f)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.3(f)(i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1) Employee benefits

@

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share-based payments reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the valuation model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve. On vesting date,
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payments reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share-based payments reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to accumulated losses).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(U

(m)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.3(c),
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the reporting date unless the property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(0)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a
separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount recognised for
the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of the
provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(©)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (that is, the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (that is, the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Existence of significant financing component

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for more
than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or
less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

0

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Sale of goods and provision of services

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products or services.
If the products or services are a partial fulfilment of a
contract covering other goods and/or services, then
the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2.3(f)())).

Income from financial guarantee issued

Income from financial guarantee issued is recognised
over the term of the guarantees (see note 2.3(f)(ii)).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0)

(9}

Revenue and other income (Continued)
V) Franchise fee income

Franchise fee income from franchisee is recognised over
the franchise terms on a straight line basis.

(vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 April 2005, are translated
into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired
before 1 April 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that
applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 8E_ T __F=HB=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

23 *

®

®

EETHERE (8

SMIEIRE (8

HEBIHIERE BIHEXRER
OB EBN 2B HE
BRAREBEBINEBHNE
NEZEFE) > KARABREM
ZEBRENMARED R
EREREHENDEERm -

tE5h > BB D HE—B B EE s
EBHNWB AR L RERE
EBRLXEHZMBRBRES
M= > BB DERIRFTER

ERRTEM T AIFIERED > T

WA BB I FESD

BEM

W BERALEEFTEZ—RRE
RED R ENRERERNLEE
CEEERBGZEENEE
BREX FRZEEZBOM
Ko HMMEEMR AN EEMR
8o

BERCEEREEAEERSE
ENRAN—BONEEELE
B EEGBERARETEE
EEREHBERARIHLENK
BEG T EHARIEL B E M
HWER CRETESEREE
%E&Eﬁ%ﬂﬂ%ﬁ@zﬂj‘%ﬂ’%@k

DRHEEERIERTEREE
f‘ZTE ETo

RES

a HEXUTAL BEZAL
77AiZ%F R E
SBAEEBRE

) P 20 H R HEH &
£H;

i) HAKEBE
Y-

iy EEAEEHAE
BERABRZEEE
BAB-

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK

85



86

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r) Related parties (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i

)

Vi)

vil)

vil)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (g)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the executive
Directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

(a)

Critical accounting judgements

(i) Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in the trading of milk powder and
baby foods (the “Milk Products Business”). The Group
concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
the transactions that it controls the specified goods
before it is transferred to the customer after taking into
consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods.
The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies
the performance obligation, the Group recognises trading
revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled as specified in the
contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acting
as a principal recognised revenue relating to sales of milk
powder and baby foods amounted to HK$435,186,000
(2021: HK$227,747,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)

The Group is considered as an agent for certain
contracts with customers relating to the Milk Products
Business while the Group did not obtain the control
over goods before passing on to customers taking
into consideration indicators such as the Group is not
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise and not
exposed to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises a revenue
in the amount it expects to be entitled as specified in the
contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acting
as an agent recognised revenue relating to sales of milk
powder and baby foods amounted to HK$63,000 (2021:
Nil).

Determination on lease term of contracts with
renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease
term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that
include renewal option, specifically, the leases relating
to offices. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise renewal options impacts
the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-
assessment is performed upon the occurrence of either a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of lessee and that affects the
assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances including
economic incentives/penalties for exercising or not
exercising the options. Factors considered include:

o contractual terms and conditions for the optional
periods compared with market rates (e.g. whether
the amount of payments in the optional periods is
below the market rates);

o the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken
by the Group; and

° costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another
underlying asset suitable for the Group’s needs).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

@

Fair value of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional
property valuer. The determination of the fair value
involves certain assumptions of market conditions which
are set out in note 15.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result
in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
property and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

In light of the negative impact of the Coronavirus disease
2019 (the “COVID-19”) pandemic, the independent
professional property valuer included uncertainty clauses
in the valuation report in respect of investment property
located in Australia amounted to Australian dollars
(“AUD”) 7,750,000 (equivalent to HK$43,473,000) (2021:
AUD7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$45,208,000)) as at
31 March 2022. The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has
resulted in greater market volatility, which has led to a
higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuation
in the current year.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment property was HK$43,473,000 (2021:
HK$45,208,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)  Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March
2022, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$2,161,000
(2021: HK$2,161,000) (net of accumulated impairment
loss of Nil (2021: Nil)). Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in note 17.

(iij)  Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking

information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the Group’s trade receivables and
the ECL are disclosed in notes 19 and 30(a), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 March 2022, a deferred tax asset of
HK$315,000 (2021: Nil) in relation to credit loss
allowance of trade receivables has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses
of HK$89,036,000 due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In
cases where the actual future taxable profits generated
are less or more than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Impairment assessment for non-financial assets
(other than goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment including right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an
event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-
of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belong, including allocation of corporate assets when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash-generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

vi)

(vii)

Impairment assessment for non-financial assets
(other than goodwill) (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and prepayments subject to impairment assessment
were HK$2,449,000 and HK$51,524,000 (2021:
HK$2,199,000 and HK$43,658,000) respectively, after
taking into account the impairment losses of Nil and Nil
(2021: Nil and HK$1,301,000) in respect of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
prepayments that have been recognised respectively.

Current tax

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income
tax in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Hong
Kong and Australia. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in
the financial period in which such determination is made.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the required write-
down amount involves management’s judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation
in future is different from the original estimate, such
difference will have an impact on the carrying amounts
of inventories and the write-down charge/write-back
amount in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by
the IASB to these consolidated financial statements for the current
accounting period:

Amendments to IFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 Phase 2
and IFRS 16

Amendment to IFRS 16~ COVID-19 — Related Rent Concessions

Amendment to COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions
IFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021

None of the developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current and prior years
have been prepared or presented in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the executive
Directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

1. The Milk Products Business;

2. The provision of mobile handset solution (the “Mobile
Business”); and

3. Property investment (the “Property Investment”).

In view of diversification, the Group has been exploring different
business opportunities in other sectors to broaden the sources of
income and to boost the business performance of the Group. The
Group commenced and developed the Property Investment since
February 2021.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &Z T - —_F=B=+—HIFE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Milk Products Business derives revenue primarily from the sales of
milk powder and baby foods.

The Mobile Business derives revenue primarily from the sales and
distribution of mobile handsets and their components.

The Property Investment derives revenue primarily from rental income
arising from the lease of a property.

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the executive Directors
monitor the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade and other payables, contract liabilities,
lease liabilities and tax payable attributable to the activities of
the individual segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
“adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is
regarded as including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as Directors’ and auditors’
remuneration and other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, executive Directors are provided with
segment information concerning interest income and expense
from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, impairment losses, valuation gain/loss
on investment property, write-down of inventories, gain on lease
modification and additions to non-current segment assets used
by the segments in their operations.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

DEE R} (B
MBEREBZMATERBHED
MEEREMe
FHREBZMATERBEHE 2D H
FREEZ M-
MEREZIMATEREYMERE
HRFETIA ©

@ IMEE-BEKRER

BTEDBRIRKRIS D ER

ZENEER JITEFRUT
BEEERZEATREDHH

FR-EERAR:

NEEEBIEMEEEE &
FEERRBEE WEEEE
BRoN o D BEBIEME R 2 EBRY

E@JFEEZ%%&E%EH
E-anak -HEaRREM
BIACE

WA RS2 TH IR D B E L
BEEE U RN B AR
DEEGEZEENESIESE
2% DERERTREDH

BRERYIEN (FB) =

J5 kA TS AEEEBITDA S » BO 40
BRA B NIRIE ITE RSN 2
EAEBRA L Hp TR E1#18
AOEREWRAMMTE &#
HIWEACREIERDEEZR
B8 - A5t B FAEEBITDA
NEBZRBANDHTIERETB
RERDEzEEELEE—S
SEEE > I U0 B I Be A% BR AT A 5 B
DEREMERERICETH
o

FREV1S B RS S EEEBITDAR
HERSN MITEEIESER
DHEEEENBSEHRKE
BB WA KRS TE H
EFEE REYEGENRE
BEFEME  BEETHIR
AR BB A B TR (s AR Y I
MEDBEEFENDILER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the
executive Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021 is set out below.

Reportable segment revenue

Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition

Point in time

Over time

Revenue from external customers and
reportable segment revenue

Profit or loss

Reportable segment profit/(loss)
(adjusted EBITDA)

Bank interest income

Depreciation

Finance costs

Unallocated head office and corporate
interest and expenses other than

bank interest income, depreciation and

finance costs

Consolidated loss before taxation

Reportable segment assets
Unallocated head office and corporate
assets
- Cash and bank balances
- Other unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Reportable segment liabilities
Unallocated head office and corporate
liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

ATHREDHBA
L ON: =S SR
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FEB R HERS

RENDBERZBAR
ATHREDHKA

B

BYRENEEF, (B518)
(#<3HEEEBITDA)

RITHI B A

e

R AR A

ROEZEMEBERR B
FBRAZ RITHE
WA TE RRE M
BRoh)

Rk =Y 5t ]

ATHREDWEE
RO BIPMEER
TEXEE
—RE KRBT
—EBftRDEZEE

ATHRENWEE
RNEZBMEER
TEEE

REBERE

5  DEEN @

@ IEEE-EEKREE G
BRABIEEEDEBER
PENZWAERMEBEEZ
E__GR-_EB-_—&=8
=S+ HEFEZERDER
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DEER 2 ERIEIR T o

Year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z__F=-A=1+—HLEE
Milk

Products Mobile Property
Business Business Investment Total
IHEREMER FHER MERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FAET
435,249 23,410 - 458,659
1,381 - 1,723 3,104
436,630 23,410 1,723 461,763
25,348 (42,537) 2,918 (14,271)
6
(1,339)
(104)
(12,817)
(28,525)

At 31 March 2022
RZB-__#=A=+—H
Milk

Products Mobile Property
Business Business Investment Total
AR MER FHER MERSE st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
127,329 4,648 44,170 176,147
1,204
1,469
178,820
38,358 8,269 1,025 47,652
14,817
62,469
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

BT F-HA=+—HLIEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@)

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure

of segment profit/(loss) or
segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets
Impairment loss of trade receivables
Valuation gain on investment property R E ¥ ¥ A EWE

Amounts not included in the
measure of segment profit/(loss) or

segment assets:

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

5 DEEH (@

@

DEMEE - EERER @

Year ended 31 March 2022

Bank interest income
Depreciation
Finance costs

BEZS-_H-A=1+—HLEE
Milk
Products Mobile Property
Business Business Investment  Unallocated Total
MEEMES FHED MERE KAE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHERT FHERT FHERT FHERT
Hitt 3B &R
st AR EER)
(B518) N BEE
STEZHIE !
REFRBEE 1,524 = - 1,524
BERWGIEREESE (1,910 (44) - - (1,954)
s - 1,402 1,402
Rt Ap A/
(B518) N WEE
STEZFIE !
HRATH BUA 1 5 - 6
e (770) - - (569) (1,339)
A& A (23) (81) (104)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Reportable segment revenue

Disaggregated by timing of revenue
recognition

Point in time

Over time

Revenue from external customers and
reportable segment revenue

Profit or loss

Reportable segment profit/(loss)
(adjusted EBITDA)

Bank interest income

Depreciation

Finance costs

Unallocated head office and corporate
interest and expenses other than

bank interest income, depreciation and

finance costs

Consolidated loss before taxation

Reportable segment assets
Unallocated head office and corporate
assets
- Cash and bank balances
- Other unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Reportable segment liabilities
Unallocated head office and corporate
liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

ATREDHRA
L ON S L E R

BBy B =2
BERs A2

RENBERZWAK
AFRED KA

Hi

BTREDEHER,/ BB
(#S5BTEEBITDA)

SRITF B A

e

MEME

RO BMEEREE
FIS KA GRITFIE
WA ERRE M A
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rEREE
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REEERE
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5  DHER @
@ DEEER BEXRERE G

Year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z_—F-B=1+—HULEE

Milk

Products Mobile Property
Business Business Investment Total
MEEEMER FRER MELRE 45t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FHET
227,747 38,820 - 266,567
1,292 - 240 1,532
229,039 38,820 240 268,099
21,796 (22,984) (2,215) (3,403)
7
(1,556)
(130)
9,518)
(14,600)

At 31 March 2021
RI2Z—H=B=+—H
Milk

Products Mobile Property
Business Business Investment Total
MEBEMER FHER MERE K5t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET FET FET
112,624 45,442 46,148 204,214
33,347
1,946
239,507
67,559 6,114 485 74,158
14,857
89,015
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

5 DEEH (@

@

DEMEE - EERER @

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z_—F=A=1+—HLEE

Milk
Products Mobile Property
Business Business Investment  Unallocated Total
MEEEMER FH2H% MERE RAE st
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Other segment information Hthp & &R
Amounts included in the measure st AR EER)
of segment profit/(loss) or (B518) ANHEE
segment assets: STEZHIE !
Additions to non-current assets AREERDEE - - 46,812 - 46,812
Impairment loss of trade receivables & 5 FEW B R E RS - (1,608) - - (1,608)
Impairment loss of prepayment BRIBRERE - (1,301) - - (1,301)
Valuation loss on investment property 12 E ¥ ¥ (4 {EEE - - (2,410) - (2,410)
Write-down of inventories FEMR - (18,696) - - (18,696)
Amounts not included in the Kt ADEER]
measure of segment profit/(loss) or (§518) A IEE
segment assets: FTEZRIA
Additions to non-current assets REERDEE - - - 2,160 2,160
Bank interest income RITFIE WA - 7 - - 7
Depreciation e (787) - - (769) (1,556)
Finance costs RE R A (29) - - (107) (130)
Gain on lease modification e G - - - 100 100
There are no inter-segment revenue during the years ended 31 RBEE_E_—_FKr_FT_—
Mach 2022 and 2021. F=B=+—HILEFE UED
EBREIULA ©
(b) Revenue from major products and services ) REFEELKRRBEZWA
2022 2021
St B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Milk powder and baby foods M RERE R 435,249 227,747
Mobile handsets and their components ~ F1# & = 4 23,410 38,820
Franchise fee income e REE WA 1,381 1,292
Gross rentals from investment property & E¥)EFH S 4828 1,723 240
461,763 268,099
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5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Geographical information

The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the
Group’s revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s
investment property, property, plant and equipment and
goodwill. The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were provided or the
goods were delivered. The geographical location of investment
property and property, plant and equipment is based on the
physical location of the asset under consideration. In the case
of goodwill, it is based on the location of the operation to which

they are allocated.

Hong Kong (place of domicile)
Australia
PRC
Afghanistan
Bangladesh
Cyprus
India
Poland
Russia
Vietnam
Others
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EEEH
ME
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &=

FiA 75 ¥k 2R BY 5

B HF=HA=+—HIFE

5 DHEEH (@

© HEHER

UTRhEEEREIESZTRZ
WAR(NVEEBNREYZE Y
X -MBERRHEUREEZFIE
& DI o B R PR E IR P iR
HRBFREYEEPEMB D -
KRENEURYE BB RRE
ZFREHELEREEEE
WERLEME - MEHEMS >
BERKEEDEREERE
M AE

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets
(excluding financial
instruments and deferred
tax assets)

FERBEE (FEEEMIA

REIMBEEZWA RIRIEIR A E )
Year ended 31 March At 31 March At 31 March
BHE=A=1+—HILLEE 2022 2021
2022 2021 WIZEZZ N_E - —F
== 2% =ZB=+—H =A=+—H
HKS$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET
- 1,821 3,251 2,552
401,273 205,998 43,473 45,208
46,007 25,676 1,359 1,808
- 1,597 - -
5,409 11,696 - -
= 15 - -
8 7,162 - -
3,552 3,628 - -
5,514 4,657 - -
- 5,936 - -
= 13 - —
461,763 268,099 48,083 49,568

MEEERIERARAT o

—E__FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5  DEEN @
(d) Information about major customers o FBEFEBEERZER

Revenue from customers (a group of entities known to the
Group to be under common control is considered as a single
customer) contributing 10% or more of the Group’s revenue are

KEBEMAEERBUBA10%IN
ERER (REEREHEE
TH—HEEERE—FR) 2K

as follows: AMTE :
2022 2021
S —B-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Revenue from sales of milk powder and 2R B HE N KRR
baby foods Bz WA
— Customer A —XF/H 224,738 119,327
— Customer B -8B Z 139,266 50,961
— Customer C —-5FA N/A 7R3 F* 56,915
Remark: 1=

¢ The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the

Group’s total revenue during the corresponding year.
6. REVENUE

(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

¢ AR EE R AR UA Y &

BRAREBBUIAI0%EA £

WA

@ BEIZEEMARBENEDZ

major products or service lines is as follows: RERFEHNZWANT
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers 7 & Bl IR B 75 5k & #E B
within the scope of IFRS 15 FIGSREBERRE
BEREHZEA
Disaggregated by major products or B EELNRBER
service lines Ellbay
— Sales of milk powder and baby foods —fHENIMERERER 435,249 227,747
— Sales and distribution of mobile —HERDIHFIER
handsets and their components HZH 23,410 38,820
— Franchise fee income v 3=V ON 1,381 1,292
460,040 267,859
Revenue from other sources B EMRIRZ WA
Gross rentals from investment property & B Y ¥ FH 4058
— Lease payments that are fixed —EERENR 1,723 240
461,763 268,099

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the
timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets are
disclosed in notes 5(a) and 5(c), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

REVENUE (Continued)

(b)  The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was RISV ASHEERN
included in contract liabilities HERRUA -
at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Sales of milk powder and baby foods — IHEN KERE &

Sales and distribution of mobile & R D HE F i K
handsets and their components HEH

Franchise fee income REFEE WA

(c) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from

contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date:

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15
are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

WA (&)

b) TR RS HEERL
WAZTE ZFELENRSHT

Bt AGHEaER !
2022 2021
ZEICHF B4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
1,780 6,164
686 1,180
1,381 1,093
3,847 8,437

© FEHRREFMNRSANTE
BE R S ARSI ¢

FFEBERMHREEDF165%
HLEPFMBEZEFIHESN S
—EHUUT - HMNBERM B RS
ZERIFE1G5EFT AT AREM S
MRS BRI RIS -

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME

Interest income on financial assets measured (RIS At E SEE

at amortised cost B WA

- Bank interest income —iRITHEURA
Government subsidy (note) ES#EEh (M 5E)
Service income BRFS WA
Sundry income HIBWA

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group successfully applied for
funding support from the “Employment Support Scheme” under the “Anti-
epidemic Fund”, set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government. The purpose
of the funding was to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their
employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the
grant, the Group was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees.

HkA

2022 2021
ZEIHF BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
6 7
- 324
3,429 -
430 436
3,865 767

W : BME_ZE-_—F=A=+—HILLFE"

KEBMFFBHEBFEBFRILA

MMEEE T2 IRUEABINES
R -ZETEDEEHEERHEMI
XEOURBERAAIERERNVE
T o RIRMEBERRR - A SE @ G A RS
FREBLEARMEETANRINE
THre

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hftz=kEsE
2022 2021
g2 —_EF"—

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain ER (518 W P58 (3,804) 1,683

Gain on lease modification AEE TR - 100
Valuation gain/(loss) on investment property REWELERT (B8

(note 15) (MF5E15) 1,402 (2,410)

(2,402) (627)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the
following:

(@

(o)

(©

Finance costs:

Interest on other borrowing (note 20(b))
Interest on lease liabilities (note 20(b))

Total interest expense on financial
liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss

Staff costs (including
Directors’ emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits
Retirement benefits scheme
contributions (note 25)

Other items:
Cost of inventories (note 18)
Auditors’ remuneration

- Audit services

- Non-audit services
Depreciation charges (note 16)

— Owned property, plant and equipment

- Right-of-use assets

Impairment loss of trade receivables
(note 30(a))

Impairment loss of prepayment

Short-term lease expense

Rentals receivable from investment
property less direct outgoings of
HK$207,000 (2021:HK$31,000)

(@

()

(©)

BEME
HithEEZH)!
HEEEZH)

. (Mt EE20(b))
(M 5£20(0))

[%

[%

REATBEN
N2 SHAME
JEERT

BTHA (BEEEMS)

#E s TEREMET
BORET 5 E
R (ff5E25)

HthEg :
FEMAE (Hiz18)
1% En A &
—ZER
— I BRE
WEER (fiz16)
—BHEYE -BEERE
—FERREE
B ERRIERERE
(HM#5£30(a))
BB ESE
CHRfA GRS
FKEREMEZREESHE
#% H207,0005 7T
(ZBZ—% :31,00087T)

FRIIAIRSIR

2 N

—_—

F=ZR=+—HLFE

BRIRATES IR GTA) UF&

EBEN .

2022 2021
—E-C —EC—&
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET

= 4

104 126

104 130

11,432 8,968

392 167

11,824 9,135
467,117 261,887
1,200 980

555 450

63 91

1,276 1,465
1,954 1,608

= 1,301

324 321
(1,516) (209)

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX

(@) Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Current tax BRHRRIE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year —KRFEEFBFER
- PRC Enterprise —REEREEE
Income Tax (“EIT”) Frigi
for the year (TE#EFR1ER))
— Australia Corporate income tax —REEEMNBZE
for the year PSR

Under-provision in respect of prior years BiFEEEETE

- Hong Kong Profits Tax —E5BFER
— Australia Corporate income tax — BN ZEFRER

Deferred tax — origination and reversal of & 3EFRIE— 8 BF =28

temporary differences (note 24(a)) E X KR (isE24(a))
Income tax expenses RS
Notes:

(i) The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. For this
subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits are taxed at
8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated
at the same basis in 2021.

(ii) The Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC EIT at 25% for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
25%) except for a subsidiary which is qualified as Small Low-Profit
Enterprises in the PRC and entitles to a concessionary tax rate of
2.5% (2021: not applicable).

(iii) The Group’s subsidiaries established in Australia are subject to
Australia Corporate Income Tax at the rate of 30% for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

(iv) The Group is not subject to any taxation under the jurisdiction of
Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) for the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2021.
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10. FR1R
@ RIBENRIMNESLE:
2022 2021
=2 —_=E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
2,420 379
7 14
434 -
2,861 393
538 -
35 =
573 -
(315) -
3,119 393
G

(i

)

I ENEBFERLE
ERGHHERRENURE
16.5% (ZZE - —4F :16.5%)
FTIREME EAEE—BNE
NEARBAHERMAEFASE
B -RZMBATMS
EHo2EB BT 2 EEREMN U
8.25%M IR 7 > M HARFER
FRIEFILU16.5% M- © I
MiE A SN EEFBREERR
FENEER T —ERE
#EFEE

BE_ZE-_—_F#=H=+—H
IFEE AEEPFEMRIN
B /3§ A B B LL25% I R R 4R
FEGCEMER (CBZ—F:
25%) > E—BEEKABNE
AR B AT RN Z
NEIZEBEBERZE25% (ZF
T RER) -

HME_S--ER-F-—&
ZA=+—HLEFEE &~EH
RN Bl 32 B9 BT g 2 B 78 ML
30% A9 = A0 BN k2 FT1S
o

AEEBE_TS_FRIT
——H=RB=+—HBLEEH
ERMERERABRELHEE
(TRBREZEE)) B EZEEN
EfAIRRIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & ZE_

INCOME TAX (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting loss at

applicable tax rate:

Loss before taxation FRIRATE 1B

Notional tax on loss before taxation, #16.5% N EBF)FMME
calculated at Hong Kong Profits FTEZBRRAIEGIEZ
tax rate of 16.5% LERE (CEI—F:
(2021: 16.5%) 16.5%)

Effect of different tax rates arising from  E4H Hﬂﬂﬁa’*’"ﬂ}ﬂ&“@
other tax jurisdictions HNAEMRENTE

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ~ AR AT 2 RFFHE

Tax effect of non-taxable income BEFRBAZRBLE

Tax effect of tax losses/deductible T ERR 2 MBI
temporary differences ARG RERZ
not recognised MBEEE

Utilisation of tax losses previously FABAERERZ
not recognised RIEEE

Statutory tax concession EEMRBEE

Under-provision in prior years BEFERERR

Income tax expenses FREMmEx

MEEERIERARAT o

ST _E=ZRA=+—HILEE
10. FRiSi (@
() MEBEAXHEGHBEEZMES
RMEZHIR

2022 2021
T B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHBT
(28,525) (14,600)
(4,707) (2,409)

332 (283)

388 837

(418) (479)

7,206 4,157

17) (1,265)

(238) (165)

573 =

3,119 393

—E__FFR
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FEMEIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 1. EEME

RIBEEEARBEMEI83()ERAE
(WEEEFEER) RAF2HIPE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

106

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are HNEEMEOT -
as follows:
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_ST-__F=B=+—HLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fee in kind Bonuses contributions Total
B 4 BIAER
wE KEWHZ 1E41 sHEIER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FET FET
Executive Directors: HITESE
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) ~ BE&IIE (£/E) - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Vi Peijian Z1543|
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTEC#E %) - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Chen Zeyu [pEates - 1,200 100 - 1,300
Chen Xu FeR B
(Appointed on W& ——%
8 December 2021) +ZBAN\BEZD) - 568 - - 568
Independent B IEHITES :
non-executive
Directors:
Li Chak Hung =EE 180 - - - 180
Choi Kin Man HRER 180 - - - 180
Ngai Wah Sang BEL 180 - - - 180
540 4,168 300 36 5,044
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AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

EXME @

BE_Z_—F=-"A=+—HLEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fee in kind Bonuses  contributions Total
i B RIRTER
wE  KEWRG TE4T StEIER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FHET FERT FHET
Executive Directors: BITES !
Xiong Jianrui (Chairman) ~ BE8I3% (/%) - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Yi Peijian BiEa
(Chief Executive Officer) (7B ) - 1,200 100 18 1,318
Chen Zeyu fRZF = 1,200 100 = 1,300
Independent non- BIAERITES !
executive Directors:
Li Chak Hung ZEE 180 - - - 180
Choi Kin Man 2RERE 180 - - - 180
Ngai Wah Sang MEE
(Appointed on (RZBZZ%HF
28 October 2020) +EZ+N\REZD) 77 - - - 77
Cui Songhe S
(Resigned on 07—, == 2
3 May 2020) AR =H&D 16 = = = 16
453 3,600 300 36 4,389

Mr. Yi Peijian is the executive Director and the chief executive officer of
the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and is responsible for the

Company’s day to day management and the overall activities.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emolument was
paid by the Group to the Directors or the Chief Executive Officer as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which the Directors or the Chief
Executive Officer have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

during the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

PEAELEBNTES RS AT TH
@ (AR  AEAAT AR
EERERES

RB&E_T__Fr-FT-—F=A
= t+—HLEFE FERUTERAES
FITBREXZNME  FRAEBERE
MARER HERMATEREFZ
BERhOURERIAEE

BE_Z__ KT _—%F=H
—t+—BIERMEFE BEESHIT
BRI N TAEARERRENE
ERE > ke

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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AR e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &Z T - —_F=B=+—HIFE

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2021:
three) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11.
The aggregate of the emoluments of the remaining two (2021: two)

individuals were as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments e REMME
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIREANET B HR

The emoluments of the two (2021: two) individuals with the highest

emoluments are within the following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 70

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emolument
was paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under which the five highest
paid individuals have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

during the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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EemMEZER AL

TR EeMEENALTER =4
(CTBEZ—F =R RESH HNE
EMFIIRRE R TmR (CE2—
Fmg) BEIALZHSEENT

2022 2021
S —B-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T THET
1,490 1,555

18 21

1,508 1,576

Zma (CEZ—F M) &eil
BEALTZHMENFUTER :

2022 2021
TEICHF B —F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
N N ¢

2 2

REBEE_E_—_F#Kx-_FT"_—%F=H
=t+—HLEFEE - AERUERAS
EeE@IALTEZAME EFAR
B EMARER  HIEAMALRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE

(@)

(b)

14.

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$31,644,000 (2021: HK$14,993,000) and the weighted-
average number of approximately 314,360,000 (2021:
312,169,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

Weighted-average number TIBR TR
of ordinary shares:
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April

Effect of Shares issued upon placing

Weighted-average number of ZiBR
ordinary shares FHE

Basic loss per share SREXREBE
(HK cents per share) (AW

Diluted loss per share

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The diluted loss
per share is the same as the basic loss per share for the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

13. EREE

@

BREREE

EREABBELREAATR
R4S EE51831,644,000%8
7T (ZTEZ—4 : 14,993,000
7o) RN AFEEBITZERN
NN 9 8149314,360,0000% (=
T —4 1 312,169,0008%) 5t
HosENT

2022 2021
= S - = z_
’000 '000
TR T

REE—HHE#TEER
REERTROHNTE

314,360 264,360
- 47,809

314,360 312,169

(10.1) (4.8)

®)

EikE#ERIE

REET__FR_FTZ—
FZA=+—HIEEE LEE
BOZETHEEER -EE
TR _EFRE_—F=8
—t+—HIEEEEREEE
BEESREAEEER-

EEEFEBRLNEE_S 5=

A

=t+—BHLEFENXRARE CF

——F:i18|-

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY REYE

Fair value
NFEE
HK$’ 000
FET
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZFMPH—H =
Additions NE 46,812
Fair value adjustment N BERE (2,410)
Exchange adjustments PE R oA R 806

At 31 March 2021 and RZE_—FE=ZA=+—HB%

1 April 2021 —E-—#mA—H 45,208
Fair value adjustment N EERE 1,402
Exchange adjustments BE R (3,137)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_F#=H=+—H 43,473

Fair value adjustment of investment property amounting to gain of
HK$1,402,000 (2021: loss of HK$2,410,000) is recognised in the
profit or loss and is included in “other gains and losses” as “valuation
gain/(loss) on investment property”(see note 8).

The Group leases out an investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of three years, with an
option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

Fair value measurement of property
(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment property measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

= Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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e

MEN R TEEHNE
0 A FEEER

TREVNEAEEREMENR
THRRREELEESFEL D
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement of property (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Recurring fair value
measurement

Investment property
located in Australia

Recurring fair value
measurement

Investment property
located in Australia

ERIUEATBENE

RSB Z
REYF

KEEATEEHNE

ez

REME

15. KEWME @
MENATEESE @
) X FBEEER )
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2022 categorised into
WZEZZHE=B=+—Hz
ATEEHENE
Fair value
at
31 March
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RIEZZ
=A=+—H
ZATEE E—R EHR B
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHx FHx FHR T
43,473 - 43,473 -
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2021 categorised into
RZE-_—F=A=+—H2
ATEESENE
Fair value
at
31 March
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
S
—BA=+—H
ZAEEE E—ik BFTIR =4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FERT FET FHET FHET
45,208 - 45,208 -

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement of property (Continued)

@

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

The Group’s investment property was revalued as at 31 March
2022. The valuation was carried out by an independent firm
of valuers in Australia, Hymans Property Pty Ltd., who have
among their staff Certified Practising Valuers of The Australian
Property Institute with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued. The management of
the Group has discussed with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each reporting date.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of investment property located in Australia is
determined using market comparison approach by reference
to recent sales price of comparable properties on a price
per square meter basis using market data which is publicly
available.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater
market volatility which has led to a higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuation in the current
year, and the independent professional property valuer
included uncertainty clauses in the valuation report in
respect of investment property located in Australia valued
at AUD7,750,000 (equivalent to HK$43,473,000) (2021:
AUD7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$45,208,000)) as at 31 March
2022.
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15.

REYME (B

MEN R TEEE (B

(@

(i)

RFEEBER )

REBE_T-__ER-FT"—
FZRA=T—HLFE TES
—MERBEREBER NEFE
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16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 1 April 2020
Additions

Write-off
Reassessment
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2021

and 1 April 2021
Additions
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2022

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2020

Charge for the year
Write-off

Reassessment

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2021

and 1 April 2021
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2022

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2022

At 31 March 2021

57N
RIZE-ZFMH—H
B

6]

EEia

BE AR R

RN_E_—F=H=+—H
R—_E-_—FMA—H
=1

PE D aA R

R_E - _F=B=+—H

REHTE

K- ZEFMA—H
EEEZH

fif g5

B

R

RIE-_—F=H=+—H
R_E_—FMA—H

REETH

PE oA EE

RWIZZEZZHF=B=+—=H

IREE
RIZZZF=RA=+—H

RIZEZ—F=A=+—H

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

16. ME -WMERHRE
Properties Furniture
leased for and Electronic
own use fixtures  equipment Total
HEBN AR
HEYZE BIEEE EF®k Hast
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
4,485 373 321 5,179
2,064 - - 2,064
(316) - - (816)
(2,964) - (2,964)
10 18 20 48
3,279 391 341 4,011
1,480 44 - 1,624
229 13 14 256
4,988 448 355 5,791
1,291 230 264 1,785
1,465 70 21 1,556
(316) - - (816)
(1,140) - (1,140)
(103) 13 17 (73)
1,197 313 302 1,812
1,276 46 17 1,339
168 11 12 191
2,641 370 331 3,342
2,347 78 24 2,449
2,082 78 39 2,199
AT ZEERBIRAT ¢« S _FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of
underlying asset is as follows:

HERNEEY*
DU E pl A7 BR

Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit
or loss is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets BEREESRNE DY

by class of underlying asset: FTRAEBEEZINEER !
Properties leased for own use THERNHEEYZE

Interest on lease liabilities (note 9(a))

Expense relating to short-term leases B E R X

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as its office
through tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years. None of the leases includes variable lease
payment.

The Group also entered into short-term leases for office. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, additions to right-of-use
assets were HK$1,480,000 (2021: HK$2,064,000), which is related
to the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 20(c) and 23, respectively.
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16.

E - BB Kk (8
ERREE

RAMEESFB ONEREBSER
ERESFOT

2022 2021
S —B-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T THET
2,347 2,082

REmzTEINEHEEZHXES
PaR)in 1IN

2022 2021
-3 B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET
1,276 1,465
104 126

324 321

FEFRBEBHE R RIS ERRE
THERERRAZE BENNKBEE
HEEAmMELF ZESHERES
EREBEE MR

NEBIFHMAETURBREE
CIEICERIEI-FEZA=Z+—
H R EEaeRE EXIRENEH
HEMLMEHRRERASEL

REE_ZE__&#=B=+—HI1I%
o EREEELNN1,480,000%8 7T (Z
T~ —4 12,064,000/ 70)  EIRE
FHEREENNERMEBEENTRE
B

AREEMNRREREUKRIEEERE
BIEHA D 4 2 515 0 B L F B E£20(c)
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

GOODWILL

Cost D%

At beginning and end of the year REEVRFEER
Accumulated impairment losses Rt EERE

At beginning and end of the year REEVREER
Carrying amounts IREE

At 31 March W=B=+—H

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit as follows:

IMAREMER

Milk Products Business

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is determined
based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of
assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated according to
a constant 0% (2021: 3%) growth assumption for terminal value. This
growth rate is consistent with forecasts included in industry reports
specific to the industry in which the cash-generating unit operates.

S
2022 2021
—ECHF B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
2,161 2,161
2,161 2,161

REEL B (GEDE) ZHENR

BENRAEEIREUTREEL
B

2022 2021
B8 B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
2,161 2,161

REELBMUMNRIWEIEEET B E
REEEEE ETREEARRK
ERstEERARESRERA  AME
ABEREEEMENRERL TG
B BIREEL -

IERRRZFEERENRERKE
BEM0% (ZE-—F :13%) BEEER
REREE - ZIERRATERSESD
HERRSELBUBEMTTERA
BITER—E -

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17.

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
(Continued)

The following table sets out the key assumptions for the cash-
generating unit:

HE @

REEEEN (BEFHE ZRERS
@

TEREFREEEEMUNEZRR :

2022 2021
ZEIHF BT
% %
- Budgeted gross margin —TBEEME 10% toZE 12% 9%
— Growth rate —BEX 5% to=E 49% 3% toZE 10%
— Pre-tax discount rate — BRI AR IR = 20% 20%
18. INVENTORIES 18. =#&

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Milk powder and baby foods M REZRE M@
— Merchandise — M 4,811 50,100

Mobile handsets and their components FHREHETH

— Finished goods —8R - 2,541
4,811 52,641

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
and included in profit or loss is as follows:

DALt ABENFESED
HranT

2022 2021

BT TET

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEGFERAEE 467,117 243,191
Write-down of inventories FEMA - 18,696
467,117 261,887

All of the inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE_Z—

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance
(note (i)

Other receivables

Rental deposits (note (i)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Prepayments to suppliers

Other prepaid expenses

Other deposits

Other tax recoverable

Representing:
Current
Non-current

F=ZR=+—HLFE

19. BHREMEK

2022 2021
—ECHF B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

B EEIE  IFRE 18
B (MIsEd) 51,823 22,364
Hh e ERIE 687 19
HEZE (W) 320 337
BN B SREE 52,830 22,720
EHE R (EH R TB TIE 51,400 43,513
HMFENRAX 124 145
Hihizs 4 4
HhaTugE1f318 39 =
104,397 66,382

Hep:

pii 104,077 66,286
JERE 320 96
104,397 66,382

Except for the rental deposit of HK$320,000 (2021: HK$96,000) which
is expected to be recovered after more than one year, all of the trade
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as

expense within one year.

BREASR -—FURKEZBERS
320,000 7T (ZZ& = —4F 1 96,0007
7T) 9N PR A B 5 K Bt FE W R IR TR A1
R—F AR C SRR B

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:
(i) Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade receivables
based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

19. BZRHEAMBWTRIE (&)
GEE
0 ERES

RBREMAFR REEREBRNEF K
IR (NBRESIRAME) BVEREG DTN T

0 to 30 days 0Z30H

31 to 60 days 31E60H
61 to 90 days 61E90H
Over 90 days #BiBo0A

2022 2021
T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET TR
36,254 22,364
1,329 -
9,540 =
4,700 -
51,823 22,364

Trade receivables are due within 0 to 90 days (2021: 0 to 90 days) from the
date of biling. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 30(a).

(ii) Rental deposits are typically paid for leased properties, which are refundable
after the expiry of the leases.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RITIRERFEES

Cash at banks and on hands

Cash and cash equivalents stated in the &7 i & B #5K

consolidated statement of financial MERGEERERE
position and consolidated statement FAZRERIRESE
of cash flows (=L

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.
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B 5 MU TR IE B 52 Bk H #AREST0ZE 908
(ZZZ—4 1 0F90H) MEIH A&
BEEEBRMESRERBEENE
BRI E— D s BRI MEE30()

(ii) HERSBEDREEYESM AR
HEIREFURE

20. RERFEFEMRAMRERE

a) REXRELEEYEE:

2022 2021
—ECCF —=-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
20,901 70,379
20,901 70,379

RITRERENSHRITERAERY
R E BB o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW

INFORMATION (Continued)

b)

c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

At 1 April 2020
Changes from

financing cash flows
New lease entered
Reassessments
Interest expenses (note 9(a))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2021

and

1 April 2021
Changes from

financing cash flows
New lease entered
Interest expenses (note 9(a))
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March
2022

20. HEKRASEFEYRAMRERE

B @
b) REIFHEENEERK
Interest payable
included in
trade and other Other Lease
payables borrowing liabilities Total
STABZ R
HAtnpe3IE
HREF] R HMEE HE&RE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FERT FET FHET
(note 23)
(Pf5%23)
N ZZETZ2FMNBE—H 63 10,000 3,343 13,406
MERE
MEEE) (67) (10,000) (1,460) (11,527)
WEIAEE - - 2,064 2,064
EEiEan - (1,924) (1,924)
F BRI (M) - 126 130
PE B FEEE - 121 121
PR —
=B=+—Hk
2 —fWAE—H S - 2,270 2,270
MERE
MEEH = - (1,390) (1,390)
WMEIUME - - 1,480 1,480
FEMz (M59() - - 104 104
ERAE - - 69 69
A_EB__HF=R8
=+—H = - 2,533 2,533
o HRAEENERERN

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows
for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows
Within financing cash flows

ERERENERN
ERBRERERN

All the above amounts relate to the lease rentals paid.

MEESFAGEREREBRZ

MREEUTEE !
2022 2021
- T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT
324 321
1,390 1,460
1,714 1,781

MEEERIERARAT o

EXFrEZEREENEERS

B

—E__FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B REMENRIE
2022 2021
ZEIHF BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Trade payables (note (i)) B 5 e RIE (MisE)) 32,405 63,154
Other payables Hh eI FIE 1,422 1,939
Accruals FESTE A 2,192 1,857
Salary payable FE(S 3 4,602 3,468
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost XS At E SrmEE 40,621 70,418
Deposit received Bl E 421 452
Other tax payable HhELHRIE 11,836 11,544
52,878 82,414
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within FFEEZ RAMENRIBEEER —F
one year or are repayable on demand. NEZNHBREREER
Note: FdsE
(i) Aging analysis (i) BREC DA
As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade payables RHREPFR REZZAHENE S B
based on the invoice date is as follows: RIENERE DT -
2022 2021
-2 T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 31,917 63,154
31 to 60 days 31E60H - =
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 488 =
Over 90 days BiB90H - S
32,405 63,154
22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22, SHBAaRE
2022 2021
g B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Receipt in advance FEW R IE 3,428 3,847
Certain customers are required to pay deposits when they place the EFRPEAR TENESTERYN(IET
sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities until the Group delivers £ BRI N (BEAEEXNERE
the products and the customers obtain control of the products. ZEHNEHELNITHER) 5498
&o
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

Movements in contract liabilities:

Balance at beginning of the year REEY 2 &85
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AR EFEED
recognising revenue during the year that RS A
was included in the contract liabilities at the ~ &HE/ERAIUA
beginning of the reporting period EYEHNEaERD
Refunded upon termination of contracts F#& I EEH RN
Increase in contract liabilities as a result REWEARIEEE
of billing in advance of performance BHEBEIE
Balance at end of the year REERZ &

The contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within
one year.

LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR

After 1 year but within 2 years —FBREMFRN
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBEBHEERN
Balance at end of the year REERZHEER

2 /HEEE

FEENERDABTFEEMNE

HETHBEHUA -
aNEEES !
2022 2021
2T HF —m—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT vy
3,847 5.043
(3,847) (8,437)
- (506)
3,428 3,847
3,428 3.847

BHNEERARN —FANRE R
Ao

23, THE&E

N_E__F#=ZH=+—H {E&8&8

BEEZAROT :
2022 2021
—ECFE T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FET
1,350 949
943 557
240 764
1,183 1,321
2,533 2,270

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK 121
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR AR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

24. DEFERRED TAX 24.

(a) Deferred tax assets recognised

At 1 April 2020, R -_FFMA—H-
31 March 2021 and TE- A=+ —HK
1 April 2021 =S 2 s = [ |

Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a)) sFAEE (HI5E10@)

At 31 March 2022 W2 _HF=A=+—H

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$89,036,000 (2021:
HK$25,204,000) available for offset against future taxable
profits of the entities in which the losses arose. No deferred
tax was recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil) since it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
Expiry dates of unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

TEIETRTA

@

®)

B ZIRIERIRE &

Credit loss
allowance of
trade receivables
B 5 EWRIE
=EREEE
HK$'000

FAET

315

315

REDZIBEIRRE E

W_B-__#=PA=+—H"
AEBGEF RS BREBED
89,036,000/ 7w (ZTEZ—4:
25,204,000 7T) Ak EE
BEZ BRERKERREF - 7
B "HF=ZBA=+—H B
HEERBILEEEREEST
AIAEH IR AR IEEEEZ R
REEBROEF] MO R E AR & B
IR R RPHEEIERIE (T
T—F ) o RBRRNIBEIR
MEIEEIT :

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET

Unrecognised tax losses: FRIERM IR -
— without expiry date — wEEIRAH 88,377 25,204
— expiring in 2027 — Rt E3H 659 -
89,036 25,204
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8E_ T __F=HB=+—HILFE

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2022, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$932,000
(2021: HK$836,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$93,000
(2021: HK$84,000) have not been recognised in respect of the
tax that would be payable on the distribution of these retained
profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable that
these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately, and there is
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contribution.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the Directors of the
Company and staff of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 are stated in notes 9(b), 11 and 12, respectively.

24,

25.

IEFEFR IR (48
© RERHGEEREER

RIERBEGEMBRE BZE
ZENF—A—BE iR RS
ﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁw’]/mﬂ Piitd=NisE
RBAATEINRR o

W E__&#=B=+—H"
HWBATRDIKEFNEREHN
R EFEA932,0008 7T (Z 8
——4 1 836,000/ 7T) cHRN A
NEEEH Eﬁ%ﬁﬁ%/&ﬂﬂiﬂ“
R MR TE % m ) T BE
Ha B RSk Eﬂzjtikaf
IR EREENMESMOR
TEFE SRR IE AR T8 £ /893,00078 7T
(== —4 : 84,0005 7T) °

BRRAKEF
TERRMERRIRSHE

FEBRBEBRGME QBT 5T EIF
@Jﬁ%ﬁ BEBEIEEZZRES
RUBGMEABEE (MREEE
)  BEEFHBEHBUREAE
B EEMHTERARSE -BRERRES
SR BREREEEEHARESS
R A Z5% M5t BIEH R ME A
ABRIWAZ LR7330,000# 73 © 5 &
RN R R B B B R R Bl (1
REBMBLUREIRA KT e

TEBEZHERBRAE 2 EEH AT
Bl B B 1 2 B IR KR A 5T 8 2 AR
éO?%W%@ﬂ’EE%ﬁMF‘%S‘ZZ%E

BotEmBRKEFNEER RE
Eﬁ&aﬂ%f#éﬁ% REEHARRK
AR EEERFREE 2 H#
;o

BE_B__&#R-_B_—#ZA
= +—HUEFEZXRABERREE
H 8 B 2 RIREF) St B D B E L
M3E9(0) ~ 11K 120
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE

26.

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Amount due from a subsidiary

Current assets
Other receivable
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Accruals and
other payables

Net current assets

NET ASSETS

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

BT F-HA=+—HLIEE

FRBEE
RNBRARZEKE
—BNERB R

MENAEE
H A RIR
= FNCIDEN
R R IRTTHERR

Gt E=NE
st ER K
H AR

MENEEFH
BEFER
B HE

R
3
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26. REEEmZHBERRR

2022 2021
B =B —F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B s FET FET
10 10

46,840 47,818

46,850 47,828

33 8

63,976 63,151

835 33,149

64,844 96,308

13,133 12,733

51,711 83,575

98,561 131,403

27(b) 391,672 391,672
27(a) (293,111) (260,269)
98,561 131,403




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out

below:

The Company

At 1 April 2020

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Issuance of Shares upon placing
(note 27(b))

Share issue expenses under
placing (note 27(b))

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year

At 31 March 2022

R_EZZFMA—H

FEEENK
2EWEBE

REEETRM
(M3E27(0))

REESTRIPZHEX
(M5%27(0))

R_E-_—E£=ZA=+—Ak
T —-FNA—H

FEEBER
2EBRERE

RZE-_"H#=F=+—H

27. BRKEE
@ FTEEGERGZSEAMRBIN
FYEFREGFNERENAR
BERBE R AR B R mAVE
MBI N EENRFER
WEBFBEHIIWT !
KR E]

Share Accumulated Total
premium losses reserves
i EE REtiE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT THEL FERT
596,081 (879,922) (283,841)
- 31,831 31,831

(7,010) - (7,010)
(1,249) - (1,249
587,822 (848,091) (260,269)
= (32,842) (32,842)
587,822 (880,933 (293,111)

FIFEREERBRAT « _T__FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 27.

(b)  Share capital

Authorised:

At 1 April 2020,
31 March 2021,
1 April 2021
and
31 March 2022,
ordinary Shares
of US$0.16 each

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 April 2020,
ordinary Shares of
US$0.16 each

Issuance of Shares upon placing
(note (i)

At 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021
and
31 March 2022,
ordinary Shares of
US$0.16 each

BARKf#EE @)
b BE
Number Amount Amount
of Shares equivalent to equivalent to
HER BER
BRI EE &% Gl
Us$'000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
EE -
RZEZZEFWMA—H-
“E—-F=ZRA=4+—H"
—B-—FmA—AH
BT THF
=ZA=+—H
SREME0.16ETH
LB 625,000,000 100,000 778,000
BEITREE
A ZEBTERFMA—H
SREME0.16ETH
ZEAR 264,360,383 42,298 329,662
REEZEITRMG
(M3 E() 50,000,000 8,000 62,010
AZB--—#ZA=+-H
“E”_—FWmA—H
K
BT TF
=B=+—H
SREEC.16ETHNEER 314,360,383 50,298 391,672

The owners of ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
Share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary Shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Note:

(i) Placing of Shares

On 17 April 2020, a total of 50,000,000 ordinary Shares (the
“Placing Share(s)”) have been successfully placed to not less than
six independent placees at the placing price of HK$1.10 per Placing
Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
to generate net proceeds of HK$53,751,000 (gross proceeds of
HK$55,000,000 less expenses of HK$1,249,000).

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

EERRRAEERFREIRERS
RAEBNRAERBDARE LRERMFES—
RRNKR—F-FMEZBEREARE
RERGEESEHZERFHMAL-

GER
0 EERH

RWZEZ_ZTEWMB+tH > &H
50,000,0008 & @M (TECER ML) B
RIBEEBEN RN RIGEFREEE
SREERMDIAOBTRINEE TR
DRANBBIAEAN EERERE
7$%853,751,000/8 7T (FR8 mRIB 4R %8
55,000,0007 7T iR B2 1,249,000
7o) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e M B lRAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium arose from the issuance of Share by the
Company at prices in excess of their par value, and may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. The
application of the share premium is governed by section
40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(i)  Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2.3(p).

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts included trade
and other payables, contract liabilities, lease liabilities, and tax
payable less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity comprises
all components of equity (that is, share capital, share premium,
foreign currency translation reserve, and accumulated losses).

27. BEKHE (@

©

@

RENEEREN
0 Rip=E

KRB ERERBDESN
ROEEHNERETR
PEEL Lo UBRA
BRHIZE 0K o BR 17 i B
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—NN—FREEFE+
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INEBHBRRMEEN
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(d) Capital management (Continued)

During 2022, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged
from 2021, was to maintain the net debt-to-equity ratio at the
lowest as possible, in order to secure access to finance at a
reasonable cost. The net debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Total debt BEERE

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEEY
(note 20(a)) (FFzE20(a))

Net debt BEFE

Total equity HEmABEE

Net debt-to-equity ratio BEFEHERIEE

According to the Listing Rules, at least 25% of the Shares
should be held in the hands of the public. Save for this, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting held on 8 September 2020.
The Share Option Scheme became effective on 8 September 2020
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.
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2022 2021

T B2

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

62,469 89,015

(20,901) (70,379)

41,568 18,636

116,351 150,492

35.7% 12.4%
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and
reward participants who have contributed to the Group and to
encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole.

Participants

The participants are any Directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), Shareholders and employees of the Group and any
advisers and consultants of any member of the Group who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under
the mandate of the Share Option Scheme was 31,436,038
Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme and approximately 9% of
the issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue for the time being, unless approved by the
Shareholders.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be
notified by the Board to each grantee upon the grant of options,
such period which shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant of the relevant option. Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be exercisable
in accordance with their terms of grant after the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme.

28.

BB E ()

RS B TEFERESIMT

BHY

BRESZEEHBDRERS
FEBEEHEMZS2EE TF
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FIHEITIRID Z BB

REBRESFSRERRS
BFRHEZAAERBRERENT
EHAETZROBE R
31,436,038 B 17 » 14 1% R 4R
BRESHHABAEETRNOZ
10% RN AFERBHEETR
P#39% °

BEBHEZ RS LR

RGBS BN ER+ 2@
ARBERTEARABRE (8
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Vi. Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets which
must be achieved before the option can be exercised, under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

vii.  Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives
from the grantee the offer letter signed by the grantee specifying
the number of Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted,
and a remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration
for the grant of the option within 28 days from the grant. Such
remittance is not refundable in any circumstance.

viii. Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the
higher of:

(@  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant which must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the grant; and

(©) the nominal value of the Shares.
ix.  Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years

commencing on 8 September 2020 up to and including 7
September 2030.

As at 31 March 2022, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately 8 years 5 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 8 September
2020 and up to 31 March 2022, no options were granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Company
has no outstanding options.
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FEMERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZE T " _"F=H=+—HILEFE

SUBSIDIARIES 20. KMIBRAE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are as RS- _F=B=+—H0 > FEHW
follows: BABINFEENT
Place of
establishment/ Issued and
incorporation and fully paid-up/ ~ Percentage of paid up/issued
Name of subsidiary business registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
FR3L/ AL I BERTRAR/ KAFFRERR/
WEAE%E MR EH AfER BETNREEAL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
Ef# HE
H K Rich Technology International Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% - Sales and distribution of mobile handsets and their
Company Limited & 1REER components
ERENHEERERAR HERDHEFRRESH
FBRCEEREABRAT PRC Registered - 100%  Provision of management services to the Group
HE capital of EAREEREEIRRE
RMB1,000,000
EMERARE
1,000,00070
Smart Tone International Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary 100% - Provision of management services to the Group
BEERARAT &% shares mAEERMEERRY
100/ B R
Lucky Golden Ant Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary 100% - Provision of management services to the Group
EESBARAT &5 shares BREEREERRE
10,0008 & 1%
Golden Joyous Ventures Limited BVI 1 ordinary 100% - Investment holding
HEBELHE share of BREER
US$1 each
1RERER
IETHEER
Alpha Overseas Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary = 100%  Investment holding
“Golden Ant Investment Limited *) &5 shares BREER
M@ EMERAR 10,0008 & @ %

EIEEBRERRAF)

Wilis Trading Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary S 100%  Trading of milk powder and baby foods

BEEYHBFERAT BE shares MHRERERES
2,000,0008% & 3@

Alice Trading Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary o 100%  Trading of milk powder and baby foods

ERERMESARAT BB shares MkERERES
2,000,0008% & &%

MEEERERAMRAT « —T__FFHK
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E_—Z " _"F=F=+—HILFE

29. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 2. HEBAE @
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are as RS- —F=A=+—HTEM
follows: (Continued) BRABEMEBAOT . (@&
Place of
establishment/ Issued and
incorporation and fully paid-up/ ~ Percentage of paid up/issued
Name of subsidiary business registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
FR3L/ AL I BEIREAR/ FATFHEHR/
WEARBE MR ER AfER BETNRAE D TEEE
Directly Indirectly
i ik
GA Australia Investment Pty Limited Australia 100 ordinary - 100%  Property investment
iy shares of MERE
AUD1 each
1005 SR EE
TETNEBR
MNERETERERAT PRC Paid-up capital of - 100% Trading of mik powder and baby foods
FE RMB Nil MKERERER
out of registered
capital of
RMB1,000,000
AMERARE
1,000,0007z°
HAgERx
AAREERL
* This subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the * ZWBABIRBREAEZMAINE
PRC law. BERE-
Remark: None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the end of the 73 RRSHER BENEASETEME
reporting period. HES e
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include the followings:

Financial assets SREE
Trade and other receivables 85 R E MW RIE
(note 19) (ft5£19)
Cash and bank balances (note 20(a)) R& RIRTT4 R (i5E20(@))
Financial assets measured at BIHRAStEZ
amortised cost EMEE
Financial liabilities B y=Ni]
Trade and other payables 85 REMELRIE
(note 21) (FFzE21)
Lease liabilities (note 23) HESE (M5E23)

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (Z# S AstE A E

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies
and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, which the Group considers to represent
low credit risk. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
refundable rental deposits is considered to be low, taking into
account (i) the landlords’ credit rating and (i) the remaining lease
term and the period covered by the rental deposits.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 89% (2021:
42%) and 100% (2021: 100%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade debtor and the five largest trade

debtors, respectively.

TRIEREEREMTANATE
(=]

FEENEIEERIECEUTE
15

2022 2021
ZEITHF BT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FAET
52,830 22,720
20,901 70,379
73,731 93,099
40,621 70,418
2,533 2,270
43,154 72,688

FEBTMTIEMEENEIERARS
FERR REMEEAR FEXRARRE
TR  TXHARERRKZNZE
B AEERERUEEZERKRN
TR R BB B A -

@ fEFERR

EERBERZHFAIBER
HAENEEIMERAERRT
MR A

AEENEERBREEZFRR
BN REFRERE
FRITIREFNEERRAIR A
BRGHFHREAREETR
HBIEEN S EETHBRT
WAEERBEERRERME &
stR()EENEETBREE
BEPMRENG THEFRK
HR > AE B R EE RO
ERSrmmERNEERRERE-

FEENEERRTIESEER
EMERSHAAEE mESE
PIREFRETEREREE )
rERCERBRESEETETE
EAREERE-—FPRAEEKX
AR ELE - RIREHIR > 89%
(ZEZ—F :42%) H100%
(ZEBEZ—% 1 100%) B 5 FE
WHIED R AR AEB R
BEEFSARAIAREBEZEHEA
BIFRIE o
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has established a credit risk management policy
under which individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are normally due within O to 90
days (2021: 0 to 90 days) from the date of billing. Upon request
by the customers, the Group may further grant up to 90 days
credit period. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31
March 2022 and 2021:

30. ERMEMEEREMIANATE

=RE)
@ FERRE@®
B S EWHIE

AEBERE—BEERARE
BES EILEHSMEERBES
FTEESBEZERETENE
Bt - ZEHEEFRERB
FEEINEREZCHEXEA
Ztﬁ%ﬂi%ﬁ%ﬁz¢

ENUREREREEZRE
Rig- B EINEIE— &Eﬂ%
HERESt0ZEQ0R (T2 —% .
0F90H) NEIFF-MEFIREH
R AEENGE—FTEEE
ZOORMEEH —KMms > &
EETEESKEELNIKME

am ©

FEEERBERERAENE
BB ERIRSRTEE
7 EURIRAE BB - A
EENBEEERRERTE
BRARAERDBHBEEL
EE%@%E B EE— P&
DEREBTEFFEZBHAN
TR IR o

TREHRAEER T "
kR_EZ—F=ZRB=+— E@
BRNEERRRE S ERT

FBHEEREBENEN
2022
—F-C
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRk IR IREAE B IR HE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current (not past due) BPHER (M fE A HR) 3.6% 42,315 (1,531)
1 to 30 days past due #AHA1E30H 3.6% 11,277 (408)
31 to 60 days past due #1HA31E60H 8.1% 185 (15)
61 to 90 days past due #8761 E90H 0.0% - -
More than 90 days past due EHAQOH ML 100.0% - -
53,777 (1,954)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 30. EREMEEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & @)
Credit risk (Continued) @ EERR®®
Trade receivables (Continued) B ZENKIE (B)
2021
B
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
LY GE RS IREAEE it
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Current (not past due) BPHA (Wt = 5A ) 0.0% 22,364 =
1 to 30 days past due #EHA1E30H 0.0% - -
31 to 60 days past due #HAS1E60H 0.0% - -
61 to 90 days past due #1HA61E90H 0.0% - -
More than 90 days past due #HAO0H M £ 100.0% 1,608 (1,608)
23,972 (1,608)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year REEY) 2 #eR
Amounts written off during the year RARFEMEEEE
Impairment losses recognised RAFE I
during the year BERE
Balance at end of the year REERZ &

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts
of trade receivables contributed to the changes in the loss
allowance:

- origination of new trade receivables net of those
settled resulted in an increase in loss allowance of
HK$1,954,000 and a write-off of trade receivable with
a gross carrying amount of HK$1,608,000 resulted in
a decrease in loss allowance of HK$1,608,000 (2021:
decrease in days past due over 90 days resulted in a
decrease in loss allowance of HK$7,939,000).

FEREEXENBEWNTZE
R EEETE - ZFLXIRE
JEF Sb ShE i £5 HR RS = ASOE RO
IR B A 5 [ PR 58 4 2 FE UK
HEREERARN Z EER L=
BBz ERETHEE-

RAFERRRE S EUBRIEN
BEBEHEZE EHNT

2022 2021
—ECHF =B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(1,608) (9,547)
1,608 9,547
(1,954) (1,608)
(1,954) (1,608)

UTRENGEEREZHNE
SRWHENRAGEZEX

£8)

~ WHERmKZE D
BREEANESD) HE
CE ARG RN
:

E7%1,608,000%& T B
5 P W 2k I8 1 8 B B S
883 R /01,608,000
T (T2 —£  #H0
Az RSO B
1B R 7,989,000%
JT) °
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables

For other receivables, the Directors make periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Directors believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group assessed
impairment based on 12-month ECL. For the year ended 31
March 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

30. ERMEMEEREMIANATE

=RE)
@ EERRE@
Bt R

(b)

MEMERTIEMS  EFRE
EFEELF BESRUKRE
EBREEEZAEEEENTE
&R B EMEREIER AT UL
B4 E1TERRE R L - EER
ABEVEEIBURZEREN
EERMRIMmEBEIRN BAE
EEREBE1I2EEEHEERE
FMERE-BRE_SE__FK_
Z_—F=RA=+—HIEE"
AEBMREMEWRRIBETETE
HEEFBATEA RILTE
RS IE R o

BN R

FEBRNNEREEEREE
FENRTEE aEnReR
FRETERRENEREEREN
BNERREHER EFEFQ
BNEEFEHE - AERZHER
EEMERARHMRERKRH
BT HEERNZER UHERGE
FRENRTREARAIE
TREEBNEREENAERE
BE mEERRERAREESE
*O

TRFNEEBMZIFITESR
BENREHARZEBE TGN
R ZEF TaBRLRES
MAMRRERE (BEEAS
WFESFHENFBAT R
TR BIRBHR SRR
TRREE) W AEMAIGER

NRzmEBHRE-
2022
-ty
More than More than Total Carrying
1yearbut  2yearsbut  contractual amount
Within less than less than undiscounted  at 31 March
On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows 2022
RZBZZ
28—  BBWE AKFER =A=+-H
ZX —ER BFEBME BFEBLE RERELE HEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEr TR
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMER 8 2,192 38,429 - - 40,621 40,621
Lease liabilities =L - 1,385 989 267 2,641 2,533
2,192 39,814 989 267 43,262 43,154
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF

(b)

(c)

30. HREMREERERTENQTE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) B @
Liquidity risk (Continued) b) B4R @
2021
ZET-F
More than More than Total Carrying
1 year but 2 years but contractual amount
Within less than less than  undiscounted  at 31 March
On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows 2021
R-B—-%
BE—F BRME SHARE =R=1-H
BREXR —ERy BFBBME GFBBLE REnE0E MEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TER TER TR
Trade and other B5K
payables HiEME 1,857 68,561 - - 70,418 70,418
Lease liabilties HEEE - 964 599 871 2,434 2,270
1,857 69,525 599 871 72,852 72,688
Interest rate risk © FERKE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash MEREBIEEHMTANRATFE
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes BERAKRRERERETHF]
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises EEBTMR BN E R o @MY
primarily from fixed rate lease liabilites and from variable rate MERRETERBEENEN
bank balances, which expose the Group to fair value interest HESBEURFEARIRITHE
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. R LARERDHEEBATEE
MERBEREREFNERMR
The Group’s bank balances are carried at low interest rates and REENRITERERERNZE
the interest income thereon is not significant. Accordingly, no FEBEFMBWAERM AL 1
sensitivity analysis is presented. EETBEE DT
Currency risk o EtERRE

(d)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
Australian dollars (“AUD”) and United States dollars
(“US$"). The Group ensures that the net exposure is
kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.

0 AERZEERE

FEEEHZEEARE
BERERNEEMELZRE
WRIE - ENRIERRE
KRR R EEBE L RINE
(BIXZ B P 7 2 e
BB ZER SHEE
EERMRBZERTIES
myt (M) K (M=
7)) e AEHETEMBERE
MTRAHEXE S
o UM RANT T
a7 > BEfR P E BR RO B R P
BRAEFR N AR BIK T o
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30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in HKS$, translated using the

30. ERMEMEEREMIANATE

B@
o EEERRE®
) EAZZEEELRE )
TRV AERNEREH

RPTERUE B AR
EEE B USN G sHE
ZEEBEENBRME
EREERE 25
SomEREZEETH N

spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting BN RBFEERN
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign BIEAE R E - i8I
operations into the Group’s presentation currency are B BERRAEAARE
excluded. B2V EMMELENE
EEHEBRTE N ©
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKS)
NERMR UHETET)
2022 2021
~E-CE &
Uss AUD Us$ AUD
in B ESH B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Trade and other receivables BZ REMEYFIE 767 46,353 27 22,312
Cash and bank balances ReERsRiTER 1,417 16,959 29,745 5,184
Trade and other payables ERREMENTRE (488) (32,008) = (119)
Net exposure arising from EREIEERBREEN
recognised assets and liabilities AR 1,696 31,304 29,772 27,377
Sensitivity analysis (i)  HREDHT
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in TR AEBENRSH

the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses) that
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$ and the
US$ would be materially unaffected by any changes in
movement in value of the US$ against other currencies.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

30. ERMEMEEREMIAENATE
'@

@

EiERERE @

()  HEEDH ()

2022 2021
g g -F

Decrease/ Decrease/

Increase/ (increase) Increase/ (increase)

(decrease) in loss after (decrease) in loss after

in foreign tax and in foreign tax and

exchange  accumulated exchange accumulated

rates losses rates losses

PRIRE IR R BRIRE AR

4 BE B 2 REtHE SMEEEE R REtEE

EH (R ED/ 8 EFA(FE) HD GEM

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHExT

AUD BT 5% 1,307 5% 1,143
(5%) (1,307) (5%) (1,143)
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table ERFTEDIMERIERZ

represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit or loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2021.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

©

5 BRI LUAERI T BE &
B ENESERERER
Bm M IR R IR
SHRER RIS BT
ORI R

SRE D IRRINEER
SHERANERSELX
EEN RS AR ERINE
B SR T A DTk
HTT T —FHRNEE
T

WA TEETRNEREE
RaEnNATEE

RIEZ_HERZIF-—F=
B=+—8 > =&ERZ®HHEmE
FIRMN SR TAKREEERAR
TEELTEERESR-
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with related parties during the year:

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including
amounts paid to the Directors as disclosed in note 11 and certain
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 12 during the reporting

period is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

The above-mentioned remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see

note 9(b)).

K288 1E R
BB R

32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 3 years

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e
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MERB=ER
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3. EXBAEAR

FRIZILAR S MBI R A E M AR 0 5% it
2R FEBRAFERUTHA

MERETZRS

REEHE AEBTEBEEEARZ
M (BENMTES RENHE)
RETERSHES (RENRMNEI12) 2

TE) WMT

2022 2021

—=-C BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THT
7,093 6,054
72 60
7,165 6,114

LatEB st A TE T i (RIFEE

9(b)) °

32, ETHEZHE

FEBEFRHEA

HEZ RAREWEEMROT !

2022 2021
—=-C T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
1,683 1,808

421 1,808

- 453

2,104 4,069
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EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

In order to place up to 34,920,000 Shares (the “Placing Shares”),
the Company had entered into the placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) with Morton Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) on
31 March 2022 (the “Placing”). Pursuant to the Placing Agreement,
the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as the placing agent of the
Company, to procure, on a best effort basis, not less than six placees
to subscribe for up to 34,920,000 Placing Shares at the placing price
of HK$1.40 per Placing Share. The Placing Shares would be allotted
and issued under the general mandate granted to the Directors at the
annual general meeting of the Company convened on 8 September
2021. The Placing was completed on 10 May 2022, a total of
34,920,000 Placing Shares have been successfully placed and gross
proceeds from the Placing was HK$48,888,000. Details of the Placing
were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 31 March
2022, 11 April 2022 and 10 May 2022, respectively.

On 13 June 2022, the Group as the borrower entered into a
loan agreement with a third-party lender for a loan facility of
HK$50,000,000 (the “Loan Facility”). The Group drew approximately
AUD9,036,000 (equivalent to HK$50,000,000) under the Loan Facility
on 15 June 2022 which will be matured in one year. The Loan Facility
was guaranteed by the Company and was secured by a debenture
created by the Company a first fixed and floating charge over its
undertaking, property and assets as security for the due payment of all
monies payable under the Loan Facility.

33.

BEMERERER

A B E & %34,920,0008 88 5 (TECE
1) AABTBR B _F£=1
—+—HEEBEZFSHERAE (T
ERE) FTURERE ((REHmZED
(TEEEFHE)) ~RIEREH=ZE K&
REERHEREUSATREERE
B BB EEERERNDIRR
LA ANILEEESREEKRN1.40
T SRS B2 $£34,920,00008 FR EE R 15 ©
BEERMDBRER_SE_—5NA
NBBRZARBIREBERG LE
FEEZ - RIEEFTURLBRET
FEEEOCN _E__FH8+H5%
> & £34,920,00008 B ERH E &
RINEE EBBERENIBRES
48,888,000/ 0 BRI E BIE  5¥ 15
DRHERAABHEAZE =
A=+—B-ZE__#MBE+—H
BR_E__FRBAtHZAE

A B _FEXRXB+=H & &
BEAERAEE=Z/7EF AR
50,000,000 cHIREE (TR &) 573L
BHpE-R_E__FA+H8"
AEBYRBEIZENA9,036,0008 7T
(}8%7450,000,000& 7T) WEF > &%
BRER—ENH -MEREAT
R WUAR AT NEE FERE
ERMRINE—BEREFEFLNE
R IRER R IREE T
BREATUERNER
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &Z T - —_F=B=+—HIFE

34.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2022 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

BE_T__F-A=+—HILF
EEMEMBERKRERZIETS
STERIRERRZ AR A

BEETEZSHBREAAH EBRE
SHENEFEEEEMZEBE S
T THFZR=+—BLEEEHREN
RESTRRMETER BERZEY

BRI R ©

ZEERBET

SIRIsE B A EEAER 2 %8 -

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related .|;4'x IR E2ER RS KRAERE
Amendments? F175R CHE
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework' EEHFEREER BRERNEL
%SEFWL%TZIK
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between REI TSRS AR KREEHRAERE
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or 105)?%?3’2!% = NS] _}Zéﬁﬂ:\
Joint Venture® FH#ER) 55285% & EZBENEE
HIEN HEFRFES
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or EpE & 5+ 2R RHEEDEAR
Non-current and related amendments to ERGACHIEN EIEVELDEN
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2 BRAEERE
FEFRIEST (Z
TIEREF)?

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

BIFR & SR

o 5 R

and IFRS Practice 55157 K B PR B
Statement 2 BREENER
BHREH25E
CHEN
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? EPR & st 28 AN ER?
EREA RN
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and B PR & st 2 A BE—XRBELE
Liabilities arising from a Single F125REET AR HNEEERE
Transaction? BEERBIEE
1182
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — B PR & st 2 A L EN g
Proceeds before Intended Use! E RSN & - INERE
BRI Z S
;IF!
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a ElEg= el BEEHN - BT
Contract! ERYE A IR = ,\’JZEEK‘
Amendments to IFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018- EEFEREER BEERPERS
2020 BT J T— /\E
TETTHF
Zif‘;ﬁfﬂﬁ(%ﬁ‘
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 ! A B _F—B—HRIIZEHBEZ
FEHBEM
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 g RIZTEZ=F—HF—H#Z%RHBEZ
FEHABEM
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined & RETHHRIZEMRBZEEREE

The Directors anticipate that the application of the new and

b3

ERRERNI RETRRMHR

amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the SRR AIFARRKES GRS M
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. BRRELEERAERTE-
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Results

Revenue (continuing
operations)

(Loss)/profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic (loss)/earnings
per share

Assets and liabilities

Total assets

Total liabilities

Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Financial Summary

BB E

Financial year ended 31 March

BE-A=+—HLHBEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“E-N\E E-hF 2%F 2% T
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
WA
(FEREER) 293,292 351,448 147,930 268,099 461,763
NEANE (B8 @mF  (175,728) 28,588 (88,588) (14,993) (31,644)
PE1L 75
Z /NS (175,632) 28,783 (88,056) (14,993) (31,644)
JEERS e (96) (195) (532) = =
(175,728) 28,588 (88,588) (14,993) (31,644)
FRER (58
B (147.0) 10.9 (29.6) (4.8) (10.1)
Bl Bl Bl Bl P31
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
At 31 March
W=B=+—8H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
TEBE-N\EFE EBE-hE BIEF B4 EBE_F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
BEEKRAR
BEEML 175,770 360,798 166,279 239,507 178,820
BB 64,830 104,222 54,856 89,015 62,469
JEFE R e 2R 504 309 = = =
PN/
FE(L R 110,436 256,267 111,423 150,492 116,351
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Particulars of Property Held for Investment
FIEREMEER

Location Lot No. Existing Use Lease Term % held by the Group
Uk 3 ES 4R 5% REFA®R THEHA TEEFEY
152 Milperra Road, 11171671 Warehouse Freehold 100
Revesby, NSW 2212, BE KA ZERE

New South Wales,

Australia

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022






	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論與分析
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	董事及高級管理層個人資料
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	持作投資物業資料
	封底



